

Secret Net Studio

Administrator's manual

Centralized management, monitoring and audit



© SECURITY CODE Ltd., 2017. All rights reserved.

All rights to the operating instructions are reserved.

This document is part of the product package, and it is covered by all terms and conditions of the license agreement. This document or any part of it in printed or electronic form cannot be copied or made available to third parties for commercial purposes without express written consent of the SECURITY CODE Ltd.

The information contained in this document can be changed by its developer without advanced notice. This shall not be a violation of obligations with respect to users on behalf of the SECURITY CODE Ltd.

Mailing address:P.O. Box 66, Moscow,
Russian Federation, 115127Telephone:+7 495 982-30-20Email:info@securitycode.ruWeb:https://www.securitycode.ru/

Table of contents

| List of abbreviations | 5 |
|--|---------------------------------------|
| Introduction | e |
| About the Control Center | - |
| Starting the Control Contor | |
| The Control Contex interface | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| | 8 |
| Connection to the Security Server | |
| The Control Center settings | |
| Control structure | |
| Diagram and list of control objects | 13 |
| Structure objects | 1 |
| Filtering objects | 14 |
| Controlling the display of objects | 10 |
| OM structure after installation of Secret Net Studio components | |
| Editing the OM structure | |
| Adding objects to the OM structure | |
| Managing the subordination ratio in the OM structure | |
| Removing objects from the OM structure | |
| Configuring coourity actings | 27 |
| Configuring security settings | |
| Lists of security settings | |
| Saving changes | |
| Configuring settings in the Policies and Event Registration sections | |
| Policies section settings | |
| Event Registration section settings | 2 |
| Applying settings on computers | 2. |
| Configuring settings in the Parameters section | |
| Computer registration information | |
| Network connection settings | 2: |
| Settings for transferring local logs | |
| Settings for alort potifications mailing | |
| The Control Center user privileges | 2. |
| Alert filtering settings | |
| Secret Net Studio tracing settings | 31 |
| | |
| Monitoring and operational management | |
| | |
| General status of the system | |
| Object labels on the diagram | |
| Information about the state of objects | 3. |
| | |
| Tracking alorte | |
| Notifications about alorts | |
| Alert acknowledgment | |
| Resetting alert counters | 38 |
| Creating filtration rules based on alert notifications | 38 |
| Operational Management | 30 |
| l ocking and unlocking computers | 30 |
| Restarting and shutting down computers | 4(|
| Updating group policies on computers | |
| Approving changes to hardware configuration | 4(|
| Collecting local logs at the administrators command | |
| Controlling the operation of security mechanisms on computers | 41 |
| Using centralized logs | 47 |
| Centralized logs | 41 |
| Alert log | 4242 ۸۲ |
| | |

| Combined computer log | 42 |
|--|--|
| Security server log | 42 |
| Storing logs | 43 |
| Local storage of logs | 43 |
| Centralized storage | 43 |
| Log archives created by the Security Server | 43 |
| Panels to work with log entries | 44 |
| Loading log entries | 46 |
| Requests for the alert log | 46 |
| Requests for the stations log | 48 |
| Requests for the Security Server log | 49 |
| Requests for log archives | |
| Configuring request settings | |
| Controlling requests | |
| Entry viewing options | 53 |
| Display event details modes | |
| Acknowledgment alerts in the log | |
| Sorting entries | |
| Color coding of optrios | |
| Obtaining information about events from external knowledge bases | 58 |
| Printing entries | 58 |
| Exporting entries | 59 |
| | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command | 60 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel | 60 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks Controlling task execution | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks Controlling task execution | 60 61 61 63 63 63 64 64 66 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks Controlling task execution | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 61 63 63 63 64 66 67 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 61 63 63 63 64 64 66 67 67 68 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 61 61 63 63 63 64 66 67 67 68 70 71 71 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 61 63 63 63 64 66 67 67 67 67 70 71 71 71 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks Controlling task execution Appendix Networking settings Color coding settings for log entries Recovering logs from archives Security Server DBMS maintenance recommendations Rebuilding indexes Monitoring the database size Cleaning up the database if it overflows | 60 61 61 63 63 63 64 66 67 67 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment | 60 61 61 63 63 64 64 66 67 67 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 73 75 |
| Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command Configuring and managing centralized software deployment Settings and control features panel Managing security mechanism licenses Configuring deployment Creating a list of centrally installed software Creating deployment tasks Controlling task execution Appendix Networking settings Color coding settings for log entries Recovering logs from archives Security Server DBMS maintenance recommendations Rebuilding indexes Monitoring the database size Cleaning up the database if it overflows Generating and installing the Security Server certificate Configuring a secure connection to directory services Secure communication with AD LDS | 60 61 61 61 63 63 63 64 66 67 67 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 73 75 |

List of abbreviations

| AD | Active Directory |
|-----|------------------------|
| DNS | Domain Name System |
| IP | Internet Protocol |
| RFC | Request for Comments |
| DB | Database |
| os | Operating System |
| ОМ | Operational Management |
| SS | Security Server |

Introduction

This manual is designed for Secret Net Studio administrators (hereinafter "Secret Net Studio, the System"). It contains information about working with the Secret Net Studio - Control Center component. Before reading this manual, read the following documents: [1], [2].

Conventions

In order to highlight certain elements in the text, a series of conventions is used.

Internal links usually indicate the required page number.

Important and additional information in the document is presented as notes. Icons in the margins indicate the importance of the information they contain.

This icon highlights additional information that may contain examples, links to other documents, or other parts of the manual.





This icon highlights a warning.

Exceptions. Some notes may not have any icons. Apart from note icons, the margins may also contain other graphical elements, for example, buttons that are explained in adjacent paragraphs.

Other information sources

If you have Internet access, you can visit SECURITY CODE Ltd. website (https://www.securitycode.ru/) or contact a company's representatives via email (info@securitycode.ru).

Chapter 1 About the Control Center

The Control Center is a component that is used for centralized control of computers. Using the Control Center you can perform:

- the system configuration;
- monitoring of the system state;
- network structure configuration of the system;
- operations with centralized logs.

Note.

ň.

The on-premises (local) version of the Control Center is installed on a computer as part of the Client. This version makes it possible to set up security settings, to control the Client subsystems, to view local logs of the computer, whereas centralized control features are not available.

This document describes how to use the Control Center for centralized control. You can perform same functions with the on-premises version similarly.

Starting the Control Center

To start the Control Center:

- 1. Perform one of the following:
- on a computer running Windows 8 or Windows Server 2012, load the Start screen and click the Control Center element.
- on a computer with other OS, click the Start button and click the Control Center in the program menu.

The dialog box appears as in the figure below.

| SECRET NET STUDIO CONTROL CENTER | |
|---|----|
| Choose a security server: WIN-AD.sns.com | ·C |
| Connect | |
| | |
| Without connecting to a security server you can access Log or Log archive | |

- In the "Choose a security server" field, type or select the name of the Security Server to which a connection will be established. To get a list of all registered Security Servers, click the button to the right of the field (this operation may take a long time).
- 3. Click Connect.

Note.

The Control Center supports starting without a connection to the Security Server to view the logs saved to files. To open the files, run the following commands at the bottom of the start dialog box:

- "Log" to load a log from a file;
- "Log archive" to load a log archive from a file.

The Control Center interface

The Control Center interface is shown in the figure below.



Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the program features navigation panel; 2 — the Computers panel in "Diagram" mode; 3 — the System Events panel.

The Control Center interface has the following parts:

- the program features navigation panel is on the left of the main window and contains shortcuts to control panels and the Control Center configuration tools;
- control panels are designed to display information and perform actions with objects.

The Control Center has the following control panels:

| Start |
|--|
| Contains information about the ratio of system alerts and the state of control object groups |
| Computers |
| Contains computer administration and management features |
| Alert Logs |
| Contains features for loading alert log entries |
| Station Logs |
| Contains features for loading stations log entries |
| Server logs |
| Contains features for loading Security Server log entries |
| Archives |
| Contains features for loading log archives |
| Deployment |
| Contains features for configuring automated software installation and updates |
| System events |
| Displays details of events involving changes in the state of objects |

Connection to the Security Server

The Security Server connection starts when the session is open. If the session with the Security Server was not open at program launch or the Security Server connection was lost, connection to this Security Server can be established without restarting. If the connection to another Security Server is required, the existing session is closed and then a new session with the Security Server can be opened.

To open a session:

ø

 Click Settings at the bottom of the navigation panel. A panel with settings appears as in the figure below.

Connection to the security server

Manage the program's connection to the security server. View servers available for connection.

: Configuration

WIN-AD.sns.com

Edit operations management hierarchy. Edit master/subordinate options for security servers and operations management agents.

Close session

С

Edit OM hierarchy...

: Advanced

Refresh operational management configuration.



About

- In the "Connection to the security server" section, type or select the name of the Security Server to which a connection will be established. To view the list of all registered Security Servers, click the "Search for security servers" button on the right.
- 3. Click "Open Session".

When a connection is established, configuration from the selected Security Server will be loaded into the Control Center.

The session is closed in a similar manner. The currently open session automatically closes when the Control Center is closed.

The Control Center settings

To configure settings:



- 1. Click Settings at the bottom of the navigation panel.
- A panel with settings appears.
- 2. Click the "Control center settings" link.

A dialog box appears as in a figure below.

| | Control center settings | _ _ × |
|--|-------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Network settings | Network settings | |
| | | System events |
| | | Temporary files |
| Network settings templates: | Local network | Event colors |
| Waiting time: | | Privileges |
| DNS name resolution: | 60 seconds | Sound alerts |
| Connections to the conver | 60 records | Controlled object settings request |
| connections to the server. | oo seconds | Additional protection components |
| Sending requests to the server: | 60 seconds | |
| End of the next block transmission: | 60 seconds | |
| Events for the workstation: | 180 seconds | |
| By the server responding to the watchdog question: | 60 seconds | |
| Block size: | | |
| For the receipt of data from the server: | 1024 KB | |
| | | |
| For data transfer to the server: | 1024 KB | |
| | | |
| | | Save Close |

- **3.** Select the required values for the settings. Settings are included in groups listed on the right of the dialog box. Click the name of the required group to view its settings. See below for the description of settings by groups.
- 4. Click Save after configuring the settings.

Note.

Some settings take effect after the Control Center is restarted.

The "Network settings" group

Contains the settings for the program networking with the Security Server.

The "Network settings templates" field

| Determines the template of network settings. | Select the required template or configure |
|---|---|
| settings manually in other groups. For a desc | cription of settings, see on p. 67 |

The "System events" group

Contains settings for viewing information in the System events panel.

The "Number of events field in the "System events" window"

Determines the maximum number of notifications displayed in the System events panel. When the limit is reached, 80% of old notifications are deleted and 20% of the most recent notifications remain

The "Event colors" section

Fields in this section determine the color of the background of the table rows in the System events window. The following types of notifications can appear in the events window:

- "Network events" notifications of changes in the condition of objects and the availability of communication with the Security Server;
- "User actions" notifications about the actions of the user in the Control Center;
- "Alert events" notifications of alert registration when working with the Control Center in centralized mode.

You can specify a special color for each type of notification in the relevant cell by clicking the button in the right of the cell

The "Temporary files" group

Contains settings for the location and storage of temporary files created by the Control Center.

The "Catalog for temporary files" field

Shows the path to the folder where the Control Center temporary files are located. To specify another folder, type the full path to it or click the button on the right and select the required folder in the object selection dialog box. The path can be set explicitly or using environment variables

The "Time period after which temporary files are deleted" field

Determines the temporary file storage period in minutes starting at the time of the last call. Temporary files of loaded logs help accelerate a new call to these logs, without having to load data from the Security Server again.

This setting applies during the user's session of working with the Control Center. When work with the program is complete, temporary files from the most recent session are deleted, regardless of the configured storage period

The "Event colors" group

Contains the settings for log entry color coding by sources of registration, categories or event codes. Formatting is based on preset rules that determine the conditions for the contents of fields in log entries. For a description of how settings are configured, see on p. **68**.

The "Privileges" group

Contains the list of privileges for using the Control Center granted to the current user (including privileges the user has from groups).

The "Sound alerts" group

Contains the settings of sound notifications to the program user about alerts as they occur. To control the sound notification mode, use the switch in the relevant section of the settings and configuration panel (see Step **1** of the procedure described above).

The "Sound signal" field

Determines the type of alert sound. A sound adapter should be installed on the computer to play the signal.

This setting can have the following values:

- "Alarm," "Horn" the selected standard sound signal of the program;
- <wav file_name> a sound stream from the specified file. To select a file to play, use the standard Open File dialog box. To call the dialog box, specify the value "Choose..."

The "Number of signal retries" field

Determines the number of times the signal is repeated. To limit the number of repetitions, select the required numeric value. If "indefinite" is set, the signal will repeat until forced off

The "Retry interval" field

Determines the pause between repetitions of the sound signal

The "Controlled object settings request" group

Contains a field determining the number of objects whose settings are stored in RAM after they are loaded.

The "Additional Protection Mechanisms" group

Contains switches to enable/disable additional protection mechanism not included in the basic distribution kit.

Chapter 2 Control structure

Diagram and list of control objects

The Computers panel has the following modes for displaying control objects:

- "Diagram" is designed for graphical presentation of information about the structure of control objects;
- "Table" is designed for displaying the hierarchical list of control objects as a table.

The "Diagram" mode is shown in the figure below.



The "Table" mode is shown in the figure below.

| ۲ | | | | | | | | WIN-AD. | sns.com : Secret | Net Studio - 0 | ontrol center | | - 0 X |
|------------|------|--|---|----------------------------|-------------|------------|----------|------------------|------------------|----------------|-----------------|--|-------|
| | | 00 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | - | | | | | | | |
| 0 | | CO OM structure | AD structure | | Acknowledge | * ≒ Logs * | Commands | ▼ I Archiving ▼ | | | | | |
| | VEW | | TALL | | | ~ | criois | | | | | | |
| ç, | Name | | - O High | Bevate | d Low | <u> </u> | FC | A Sessions | Last connection | Licenses | Security domain | Version | |
| 202 | | I-AD.sns.com | O | | 3 | 11 | | | | | SNS.COM | 8.3.1406.0 | |
| - | ٧Ų | VIN-AD.sns.com | O. | | 3 | 11 | ~ | SNS\Administrato | r | Y 1 Demo | SNS.COM | 8.3.1406.0 | ⊲ |
| 8 | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | 19 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 7 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ch | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ÷ | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Туре | Date and time | V Event | | | | | | | | | Description | 21/21 |
| | | 10/30/2017 12:01:19 PF | Configuration in Gerrian operation | equest. Secur WIN-Af | res com | | | | | | | Computation is loaded. | |
| | - ÷ | 10/30/2017 12:01:19 Pt | M Session opening | 3. Server WIN-AD | sns.com | | | | | | | Request is sent to the server. | |
| | | 10/30/2017 12:01:10 PM | M Closing session. | Server WIN-AD. | sns.com | | | | | | | Session is closed. | |
| ** | | 10/30/2017 12:01:10 PM | M Closing session. | Server WIN-AD. | sns.com | | | | | | | Request is sent to the server. | |
| ÷. | | 10/30/2017 11:26:12 Al | M Configuration n M Session opening | equest. 5 Server WIN-AT | sos com | | | | | | | Configuration is loaded. Section is one net | |
| | | THE AVERAGE OF THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF THE PART | - Assedit Opening | Control WITCHL | 1110.55 | | | | | | | Junior a openio. | |

To switch between display modes, in the Computer panel on the View tab, click the "Diagram" or the "Table" button.

Structure objects

The structure is displayed on the diagram as a scheme of elements that correspond to domains, business units, Security Servers and protected computers. The scheme is based on the structure of domains and business units in AD.

You can use the following main modes to view the scheme:

- the general original structure mode displays domains, business units, Security Servers, and groups of computers subordinated to Security Servers in respective business units;
- the computer lists mode displays the selected Security Server and the lists of directly subordinated computers.

In the general original structure mode, the diagram is split into two parts: the structure of AD domains and business units appears on the left, while Security Servers and groups of computers located on the level of AD objects that they are associated with appear on the right. Connections are drawn in each part between scheme elements from higher to lower elements, with the direction indicated by an arrow. An example of the diagram in the general original structure mode is shown in the figure onp. **8**.

To go to the computer lists mode, double-click the required Security Server or computer group. This enables an interface where the top of the diagram contains the selected Security Server with its subordinated servers, with computers directly subordinated to the selected server appearing below. An example of the diagram in this mode is shown in the figure on p. **13**. To return to the general original interface, use the navigation features at the top of the main window.

Object icons on the diagram are listed in the table below.

| Icons | Description |
|---------|----------------------------|
| 品田 | Domain or business unit |
| | Security Server |
| | Computer or computer group |

Filtering objects

You can limit the number of displayed objects by:

- filtering objects by association with domains and business units;
- filtering computers by their state;
- filtering by object types.

Filtering objects by association with domains and business units

Business units or domains whose objects do not need to be displayed in the Computers panel can be present in AD structure. For example, business units that have no protected computers. If necessary, you can use domain and business unit filtering to disable the display of unnecessary objects. Filtering applies both to the diagram and the table list of objects.

ness units whose objects should be shown in the diagram as in the figure below.

To enable the display of objects of specific domains and business units:



 In the Computers panel, click "AD filter". The "Domain filter" dialog box appears where you can select domains and busi-

| Domain filter | | |
|---------------------------------------|----|------|
| | Ξ× | No 🔻 |
| □ ☑& sns.com ☑& Domain Controllers | | |

| ✓ Display only the domains and organizational units that contain servers and workstations with Secret Net Studio installed | | | | | |
|--|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| | Apply | Close | | | |

- **2.** If necessary, you can keep in the list only those domains and business units whose names contain a specific string of characters. To do this, type the desired string in the top field.
- **3.** To manage the list of displayed objects, use the sorting button at the top of the dialog box.
- **4.** Select the required list elements. To automatically select only the domains and business units that include computers with installed Secret Net Studio, select the respective at the bottom of the dialog box.
- Click Apply and then Close.
 The diagram displays objects related to selected domains and business units.

Filtering protected computers by their state

In the computer list mode (see p. **13**), you can enable displaying of the objects that have a specific state, for example, computers with errors detected during a license verification or computers with an alert. Filtering applies to the diagram.

To enable the display of computers with a specific state:

- 1. Use navigation features to go to the required objects or point to the server/computer group and double-click it.
- **2.** At the top of the Computers panel, select the feature for filtering from the dropdown list on the Filter tab.

A fragment of the panel with computer filtering tools is shown in the figure below.

Filter is not applied Filter is not applied

TEnabled agents

- All agents with alerts
- Computers with high-level alerts
- Y Computers with elevated-level alerts
- Computers with low-level alerts
- Turned on with FC errors
- Turned on with a locking attribute
- LUser sessions
- 至 Viruses found
- Licensing errors
- A Licensing warnings
- Ardware configuration change

4

Once filtering is enabled, the Security Server on the diagram is marked with a special icon of an active filter. This icon can be used as a button to disable filtering.

By default, filtering is performed dynamically: The list is automatically refreshed when the state of computers changes. If necessary, you can disable dynamic filtering to record the current list of computers.

To disable dynamic filtering:

 In the Filter section, click Pause next to the selected feature for which filtering is performed.

Dynamic filtering is disabled and changes its appearance. To enable filtering again, click the button again.

Filtering by object types

When the object list is shown as a table, you can use the following buttons to filter objects:

- "OM structure" shows the object hierarchy as a tree of subordination of Security Servers and computers (the connection server is the root element of the hierarchy);
- "AD structure" shows the structure of AD domain made up of computers and business units;
- "View servers" enables and disables the display of Security Servers;
- "View computers" enables and disables the display of protected computers.

Controlling the display of objects

The following general features are available to control how objects are displayed on the diagram:

- using navigation features to move about the OM structure;
- sorting objects;
- scaling the structure.

Objects can be additionally grouped by their association with business units in the computer lists mode (see p. **13**).

Using navigation features to move about the OM structure

Navigation features at the top of the program's main window can be used to move about the OM structure and the search for the Security Servers and protected computers. You can move about the structure by selecting the required elements. Objects can be searched by their name when typing the required character string.

Navigation features are used like those in standard Windows OS applications such as Internet Explorer and File Explorer.

Sorting objects

Objects on the diagram can be sorted alphabetically. Their names can be sorted in descending or ascending order.

To sort objects:

1. In the Computers panel, on the Diagram tab click the Sorting menu.

A menu appears as in the figure below where the sorting order can be selected.



2. Select the sorting order.

Objects will be arranged in the selected order.

Using diagram scaling features

Scaling features are used to display elements on the diagram in the selected scale. This is useful to fit all the required elements onto the screen.

To modify the scale of display:

 Specify the required scale at the top of the main window of the program on the Diagram tab.

Grouping computers by association with organizational units

In the computer lists mode, the general list of subordinated computers of the selected Security Server is displayed by default. If computers within different organizational units are subordinated to the Security Server, a grouping of computers can be enabled. When the grouping is enabled, the list of computers is split into blocks by different business units. Blocks are separated by horizontal lines, and key details are provided for each block.

Note.

When the general original structure is displayed on the diagram, computers are always grouped into elements called computer groups. Each element brings together computers subordinated to one Security Server and associated with one business unit. To identify the server that computers in the group are subordinated to, find the parent element (that is linked to this group) in the diagram or point to the group element and double-click it to enable list mode.

To enable grouping of a computer list:

- 1. Enable the computer lists mode. Use navigation features to go to the required objects or point to the server/computer group and double-click it.
- In the object display control panel, click the "Grouping by organizational units" button.

The list of computers will be split into blocks by organizational units. To disable grouping, click the button again.

OM structure after installation of Secret Net Studio components

Components of Secret Net Studio must be installed as described in the document [2]. If the Security Servers and the Clients were subordinated to related Security Servers, computers with such components will be included in the operational management structure. The OM structure is considered to be adequately created if all protected computers are present in it and subordinated to the Security Servers.

Editing the OM structure

All available Security Servers and protected computers must be present to implement centralized control functions within the OM structure. Operations such as adding and removing objects to/from the OM structure can be performed automatically when installing or uninstalling Secret Net Studio on computers. If necessary, objects can be manually added or removed in the structure in the Control Center; for example, to implement automated installation of the Client.

To call up the OM structure editing dialog box:



1. Click Settings at the bottom of the navigation panel.

A panel with settings and configuration features appears.

2. Click "Edit OM Hierarchy".

A dialog box appears as in the figure below.

| C Editing operational management hierarchy | > | ¢ |
|---|----------------------|----|
| Editing operational management hierarchy Make subordinate Choose a server in the left-hand window, choose its subordinate servers and agents in the right-hand window, Free from subordination Choose servers or agents in the left-hand window and click the "Free from subordination" button. | , and click "Make su | ul |
| Image: Security servers and free OM agents | | |
| Image: Second | | |
| Display computers with disabled accounts | | |
| Add agent | Close | |

The current structure of the managed objects appears in the left part of the dialog box. In the right part, there is a list of protected computers and Security Servers available for subordination to the selected server.

Note.

If necessary, object lists can be filtered by hiding objects of certain types, accounts that are disabled or whose name do not contain the given string of characters. To filter, use respective elements above object lists (buttons and the field for typing a string of characters for searching) and select or unselect "Display computers with disabled accounts."

 Generate a structure of objects (see the description of procedures below) and click Close.

Adding objects to the OM structure

In the Control Center, any computer registered in Active Directory can be added as an OM structure object.

If the security domain is based on the embedded AD container (in the business unit), before being added to the OM structure, computers should be moved to this container by using standard AD administration features.

To add computers:

1. Call up the OM structure editing dialog box (see p. 18).

- If objects are added and at the same time subordinated to the Security Server, select the server that these will be subordinated to in the Network Structure list (on the left). Select the server from the security domain that the AD container with computers corresponds to.
- 3. Click "Add Agent...".

A dialog box appears as in the figure below.

| | Adding operat | ional management a | agents | | D X |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|--------|-----|-------|
| Adding operational ma | nagement ag | gents | | | |
| | | | | | |
| List of available computers | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Make chosen computers subordinate to | the security server: | Do not subordinate | | | T |
| | | | | Add | Close |

The dialog box contains a list of computers in the AD container that are outside the OM structure (the security domain of the selected server is based on the displayed container).

Note.

Computers can be listed in a simple or table form. If necessary, the list can be filtered by hiding accounts that are disabled and/or whose names do not contain the given string of characters. List controls are located at the top of the dialog box.

- **4.** In the list, select the computers that are to be added to the structure.
- **5.** To subordinate it to the Security Server, select the computer of the required server in the field "Make chosen computers subordinate to the security server"

Note.

Computers can be subordinated later (see p. 20).

6. Click Add.

A dialog box appears as in the figure below where licenses to use the System's components (subsystems) on protected computers can be selected.

Adding agents

Choose licenses for protection components from the list of available components. License set defines which security modules will be enabled on agents.

| st of agents | Licenses for protection components | | |
|--------------------|------------------------------------|---|---|
| SL-t2-0.testsn7.ru | Base protection | 1000 inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Discretionary Access Control | 1000 inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Data Wipe | 1000 inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | Ŧ |
| | Device Control | 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Application Execution Control | 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Mandatory Access Control | 1000 inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Printer Control | 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | |
| | Firewall | 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | ٠ |
| | Intrusion Detection | 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, for service | • |
| | Antivirus | Antivirus 1000inst. (left 999), to 01.11.2020, fo | • |

- 7. Select the subsystems that will be running. To manage subsystem activation (by enabling or disabling licenses), use the controls located to the left of the subsystem names. If there are different licenses registered on the Security Server for a subsystem, select the required license from the drop-down list.
- 8. Click Add.

Managing the subordination ratio in the OM structure

The OM structure provides the option to change the ratio of subordination between the Security Servers or subordinating the protected computers to other servers. Resubordination of objects (for example, when the network structure is revised) requires that such objects should first be withdrawn from subordination to current Security Servers.

Withdrawing objects from subordination

An object that is withdrawn from subordination to the current Security Server becomes free. A free computer should be then subordinated to the respective Security Server. If the Security Server was withdrawn from subordination, this component can continue operating as an independent control object.

To withdraw objects from subordination:

- 1. Call up the OM structure editing dialog box (see p. 18).
- **2.** In the Network Structure list (on the left), select the objects to be withdrawn from subordination.
- Click "Free from Subordination" Confirm your operation in the dialog box that appears.

The selected objects are no longer displayed in the Network Structure list and appear in the list of free objects when the Security Server is selected.

Subordination to the Security Server

New objects are subordinated to the Security Server from the free Security Servers and protected computers. If the required Security Server or protected computer is missing from the list of free objects, before subordination the object should be added to the structure (see p. **18**) or withdrawn from subordination to another Security Server (see above).

To subordinate objects:

- 1. Call up the OM structure editing dialog box (see p. 18).
- 2. In the Network Structure list (on the left), select the Security Server that new objects need to be subordinate to.

A list of free Clients and root servers available in the OM structure appears in the right of the dialog box.

- In the list of objects in the right of the dialog box, select computers to be subordinated to the selected Security Server. To select all elements in the list, select "Security servers and free OM agents" located above the list.
- 4. Click "Make subordinate".

Removing objects from the OM structure

Protected computers and the Security Server should only be removed from the OM structure in the Control Center if some components do not work on these computers. For example, due to the System that was an incorrectly removed or when a computer needs to be moved from one security domain to another. If you need to exclude an object temporarily, first withdraw it from subordination to the Security Server (see p. **20**) and then reestablish the subordination ratio.

To remove objects:

- 1. Call up the OM structure editing dialog box (see p. 18).
- 2. Select objects to remove.
- **3.** Click Remove the Operational Management Object above the list with selected objects. Confirm your operation in the dialog box that appears.

Chapter 3 Configuring security settings

Lists of security settings

Security settings are managed in the Computers panel on the Settings tab. This tab appears as a panel of object properties. To show or hide the properties panel, rightclick the object (for example, the Security Server) and click the Properties command.

To manage security settings of the selected object, first load settings from the Security Server by going to the Settings tab and clicking "Load Settings". The set of available settings depends on the type of selected object. After the settings are loaded, click Refresh at the top of the tab to update them.

An example of the Settings tab is shown in the figure below.



Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the settings pane; 2 — the table of contents pane.

Purpose of elements:

Settings pane

For viewing and configuring object settings. Settings are distributed into groups. Groups with required settings can be selected in the table of contents pane.

Table of contents pane

For selecting sections and groups for the settings pane. The table of contents contains the following higher level sections:

- "Policies" brings together groups of settings used to configure the operation of security mechanisms on computers.
- "Event registration" brings together groups of settings used to configure event registration in local logs.
- "Parameters" brings together groups of parameters used to configure and maintain Security Servers and protected computers.

Panes are delimited with boundaries that can be moved. If necessary, you can hide any pane by moving its boundary. Individual scroll features are used to view data in each pane.

Saving changes

Changes made in the Control Center take effect after they are saved. Changes can be saved if the Security Server connection session is active. When using the program,

you should regularly save your changes to avoid losing them if the connection with the Security Server is interrupted.

To save changes, click Apply at the top of the tab. The button appears if there are any unsaved changes.

A notification appears in the system events panel about the outcomes of the performed action.

Configuring settings in the Policies and Event Registration sections

The Policies and Event Registration sections contain settings applied on computers through group policies. These settings are designed for configuring the operation of security mechanisms and event registration in local logs.

Policies section settings

The Policies section includes the following groups of settings:

- Basic security groups ("Logon," "Log," "Shadow Copying," "User Keys," "Alert notification") bring together settings of mechanisms for the Client's basic security;
- Local resources security groups ("Discretionary Access Control," "Data Wipe," "Mandatory Access Control," "Application Execution Control," "Disk Protection and Data Encryption," "Application Control") bring together settings of mechanisms for the Client's local security;
- Network connection security groups ("Network Authentication," "Firewall") bring together settings of mechanisms for the Client's network security;
- The Device Control group contains settings of mechanisms for device connection and modification control and device control;
- The Printer Control group contains settings of the printer control mechanism;
- The Antivirus group contains the antivirus settings;
- The Intrusion Detection group contains settings of the intrusion detection and prevention mechanism;
- The Update group contains settings to automatically check for antivirus database updates.

Details of mechanism configuration are provided in related documents.

If the control of event registration is supported for a mechanism, you can go to the settings related to this mechanism in the "Event Registration" section. To go to the required group of registration settings, click the Audit link on the right of the group heading.

Event Registration section settings

Event Registration section settings are designed to enable and disable the registration of specific events in the Secret Net Studio log. Settings are distributed among groups by respective event categories.

Applying settings on computers

Settings configured in the Policies and Event Registration sections are applied on computers in the following order:

- 1. Settings made directly for the computer (local policy settings).
- Settings made for domains and business units, similar to the mechanism of Windows group policies, domain policy settings are applied first, followed by settings of policies for business units.
- Settings made for Security Servers, settings of the Security Server that computers are subordinated directly to are applied first followed by higher servers in the hierarchy.

Therefore, policy settings made for the root Security Server have the highest priority and are applied on all computers in direct or transitive subordination.

By default, settings are only configured in the local policy. For most of the local policy settings, values can be modified both centrally in the Control Center and locally on the protected computer. In this case, the value configured by a policy of another level cannot be modified in the local policy. Details of the policy that determines the value of the setting appear in the Source column of the local policy.

When several Security Servers are used, if the security domain structure is deployed on parent and nested AD containers (for example, one security domain represents the entire AD domain, and another, a nested business unit in this AD domain), the following policy settings features apply:

- policy settings of domains and business units set when connecting the program to the server in a parent security domain do not apply on protected computers subordinated to a server in another security domain in a nested Active Directory container. For these computers, policy settings of domains/business units should be configured when the program is connecting to the Security Server in a nested AD container. Individual sets of settings are used for domains/business units in each security domain;
- policy settings for the Security Server are unique within the forest of security domains and can be configured when the program is connecting either directly to this server or to any servers in other security domains (if the user has the required rights). Policy settings for the Security Server will be represented by one set regardless of how they were configured during connection to this server or to servers of other security domains.

Configuring settings in the Parameters section

The Parameters section includes groups of settings applied on the selected Security Server or protected computer.

Object settings may be present in the following groups:

- "Registration information" contains information about the computer used for registration;
- "Network options" contains network connection settings when the object interacts with the parent Security Server;
- "Log collection" contains settings for transferring local logs to the Security Server;
- "Log archival" contains settings of automated archiving of logs stored in the Security Server database;
- "Alert mailing list" contains settings of notification mailing when alerts are registered on subordinated computers;
- "User privileges" contains a list of accounts with privileges for working with the Control Center;
- "Filter of alerts from subordinate servers" contains filtering settings for notifications about alerts arriving from Security Servers subordinated to the selected Security Server;
- "Tracing management" contains settings for tracing how the Secret Net Studio operates (service function).

Computer registration information

Computer registration information can be viewed and edited in the "Registration Information" group. This group is available when selecting a protected computer.

When editing registration information, you can specify the importance of the object and enter information about the computer data.

The degree of importance of the object determines the significance assigned to alerts registered on the computer in question. If an object is assigned high importance, incoming notifications of alerts affecting this object will be kept in a higher system. Events with "elevated" and "low" alerts will be interpreted by a "higher" and "elevated" system, respectively.

The information on the computer within the registration information can be edited in the Control Center and locally on the protected computer. For a description of local editing, see document [**3**].

After changes are made to registration information, click Apply at the top of the Settings tab.

Network connection settings

Network connection settings are managed in the "Network Settings" group. This group is available when selecting the Security Server or protected computer.

Settings are used when an object is establishing a network connection to the Security Server that the object is subordinated to. You do not need to configure these settings for the root.

The networking of Secret Net Studio components creates a certain load on communication channels. The stability of network connections and time for data transfer depend on the network capacity. If the capacity is low (for example, when connection is over a modem), connections can take long to establish, and even data transfer failures can occur.

To make sure the system operates normally on slow communication channels, the security administrator should check and, if necessary, adjust the settings of networking objects. These settings determine timeouts during the execution of network requests.



Note.

There are other ways of reducing the load on communication channels, for example, by modifying the synchronization settings of integrity control jobs used by default on computers (see document [3]).

To configure network connection settings:

- Select the required template in the Network Settings Templates to configure networking settings. Values of other fields change automatically based on the selected template. If necessary, you can edit the value manually (for a description of settings, see onp. 67).
- 2. Click Apply at the top of the Settings tab.

Settings for transferring local logs

Settings for transferring local logs are managed in the "Log Collection" group. This group is available when selecting the Security Server or protected computer.

Settings of local log collection configured for the Security Server apply to all computers subordinated to this server. In this event, settings can be customized on individual computers and will have a higher priority compared with settings made on the Security Server.

The contents of local logs of a protected computer should be received in a timely manner by centralized logs in the Security Server database. Extended breaks between transfers can cause an overflow of local logs or excessive load on the Security Server and communication channels as they receive large data volumes.

To avoid problems associated with untimely data transfer, the security administrator should check and, if necessary, adjust log collection settings. In these settings, you can configure conditions for transferring local logs to the Security Server and the schedule for starting the transfer. Settings should be configured in a manner that minimizes the load on network channels at peak times (for example, at the start of the working day or at a time scheduled for downloading software updates to computers) an, prevents logs from overflowing on protected computers (because user access to the computer can be limited if the local log overflows).

To configure log transfer settings:

1. Configure basic settings in the "Collect logs" tab:

• If log collection should run every time computers are connected to the Security Server, select "When an agent connects to the security server." If logs that are about to overflow should be transferred to the Security Server, select "When filling the log 80% or more."

Comment.

Secret Net Studio monitors how full the local log on the computer is once the preset maximum size of the log exceeds 256 KB. It is transferred after confirmation of the Security Servers readiness is received. During the server's peak times, receipt of an overflowing log is delayed.

- If necessary, disable centralized collection of logs of certain types by clearing the relevant check boxes of the group "Enable collection of the following logs." Centralized collection can only be disabled for standard Windows OS logs.
- **3.** If copies of the contents of local logs should be kept on computers after their transfer to the Security Server, select "Save log copies on the protected computer."

Comment.

Copies of the contents of local logs are kept on the computer as evt-files in \OmsAgentEvtCopy, a subfolder located in the Client setup folder. These files are managed and deleted by the administrator. Log copying is used for troubleshooting. This feature should be disabled in the normal mode of operation.

4. If the transfer of local logs of connected computers should start at specific times, configure a log collection schedule by selecting the required mode in the drop-down list.

Periodically

Log transfer starts at equal intervals. The interval is set in minutes, hours or days. The mode becomes active when a specific date and time are reached. To specify a different start time of the mode, select the link with the current date and time and specify the required values in the dialog box that appears

Weekly

Log transfer is performed at times specified in the schedule. The schedule is represented as a table. Table columns and rows list days of the week and hours, respectively. To choose the start time, select the required cell in the table. The schedule repeats on a weekly basis

To disable a scheduled log transfer, select "Not Set" in the drop-down list. If the mode is disabled for a protected computer, schedule settings configured for the parent object will apply. To go to these settings, click the link "Go to the active schedule of the parent object."

Note.

Schedule settings configured for the Security Server do not apply to computers with customized log transfer schedules.

5. Click Apply.

Settings for archiving centralized logs

Settings for archiving centralized logs are managed in the "Log Archival" group. This group is available when selecting the Security Server.

Settings are used to create the schedule of automatic archiving centralized logs. Archiving applies to log entries received from subordinated protected computers and stored in the Security Server database.

The database should be archived regularly to ensure information integrity. Some DBMS versions impose limitations on the database volume. If the database exceeds the limit, new information cannot be received until the DB is cleaned.

In addition to information integrity, archiving helps remove irrelevant information from the database to reduce DB request execution time. If you need to view old entries about events, files of archive copies can be loaded to the Control Center.

Archiving can be performed on a set schedule for the Security Server or by running a special command available in the Control Center.

To configure archiving settings:

1. Select the required mode in the drop-down list:

Periodically

Archiving starts at equal intervals. The interval is set in minutes, hours or days. The mode becomes active when the preset date and time are reached. To specify a different start time of the mode, select the link with the current date and time and specify the required values in the dialog box that pops up.

Weekly

Archiving is performed at the times specified in the schedule. The schedule is represented as a table. Table columns and rows list days of the week and hours, respectively. To choose the start time, select the required cell in the table. The schedule repeats on a weekly basis

To disable the automatic start of archiving, select "Not Set" in the drop-down list.

2. Click Apply.

Settings for alert notifications mailing

Settings for sending alert notifications are managed in the group "Alert Mailing List." This group is available when selecting the Security Server.

When registering alerts on protected computers subordinated to the Security Server or its subordinated servers, Secret Net Studio can automatically notify designated employees about this. Notifications are sent by e-mail.

Mailing follows special rules that distribute notifications by sources of registration, categories or event codes. Based on preset rules, the Security Server will handle all registered alerts that it has received information about.

For example, you can configure notification mailing as follows:

- When an In/Out category alert occur, notifications are delivered to the system administrator.
- When any alert occurs, notifications are delivered to the security administrator and the auditor.

To configure mailing settings:

1. Create a list of mailing rules. To work with the list of rules, click the buttons under the list.

| Button | Description |
|--------|--|
| Edit | Opens a dialog box where you can configure the settings of the selected rule (see below) |
| Add | Adds a new rule to the list. Settings of the new rule are configured in the dialog box (see below) |
| Remove | Removes the selected element from the list |

- 2. In the "Mail server" field, enter the name or IP-address of the mail server through which notifications will be sent. In the "Port" field, specify the number of the port for access to the server.
- **3.** In the "From" field, enter, if required, the e-mail address to which notification recipients can send their responses. For example, the security administrator's e-mail address can be specified for these purposes.

Note.

The string of characters you enter should meet RFC 821 requirements.

- **4.** If necessary, enter credentials for accessing the mail server. To do this, select the "Authentication" check box and enter the user name and password.
- 5. Click Apply.

Configuring mailing rule settings

An example of the mailing rule settings dialog box is shown in the figure below.

| | Alert-based mailing list | x | | | | | |
|----------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Alert-based mailing list | | | | | | | |
| Alert | | | | | | | |
| Source: | LocalProtection 🔻 | | | | | | |
| Category: | 11 🔹 | | | | | | |
| Events: | 1065 🔻 | | | | | | |
| Mailing lis | If the required category is not in the list, enter its code on the line. If the list does not contain the required event, enter its code with a semicolon as a separator: 1045; 2045. Leave the field empty to define any category or event. | | | | | | |
| Subject: | Data Protection Studio. Alert mailing list. |] | | | | | |
| List of emails: | |] | | | | | |
| Additional information: | Attach alert log to mail | | | | | | |
| Rule title: | Rule no.1 |] | | | | | |
| | Apply Cancel |] | | | | | |

To configure the settings of a mailing rule:

- 1. In the "Rule title" field, edit the name for the element in the list of rules.
- 2. Configure event analysis settings in the Alerts group of fields:

Source

Contains the component or subsystem name specified at event registration as a source. Select the required source

Category

Contains a numeric code of the event category. Select the code of the required category from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of categories available for selection depends on the specified source

Events

Contains numeric identifiers of events. Select identifiers of the required events from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of events available for selection depends on the category specified. Identifiers are delimited by ";"

Note.

Details of events can be received when viewing alert log entries on the General tab (see p. 44). Sources, category codes and identifiers of events appear, respectively, in the following panes of the tab: "Source," "Category" and "Events."

3. In the Mailing group of fields, configure settings of notification mailing:

Subject

Contains a string that will appear in notifications as the e-mail subject

List of emails

Contains the list of e-mail addresses of notification recipients. Addresses are delimited by ";".

Additional information

If this check box is selected, notifications will contain additional information about alerts (in attached text files).

This setting only applies to computers subordinated to this Security Server. Details are not added to notifications about alerts that occur on protected transitive subordination computers (associated with subordinated servers)

4. Click Apply.

The Control Center user privileges

The Control Center user privileges are managed in the "User Privileges" group. This group is available when selecting the Security Server.

Users and user groups can be assigned the following privileges:

- "View information" the privilege for connecting to the Security Server and viewing information
- "Edit object hierarchy and parameters" the privilege for editing object configuration and managing settings in the "Settings" section
- "Execute operational commands" the privilege for performing operational management commands
- "Edit policies" the privilege for managing settings in the Policies and Event Registration sections
- "Acknowledge alert notifications" the privilege for executing alert acknowledgment commands
- "Collect logs on command" the privilege for performing an unscheduled transfer of computers local logs
- "Archive/restore logs" the privilege for archiving or restoring centralized logs

By default, all privileges listed above are available to users that are members of the group of security domain administrators. If necessary, privileges can be assigned to other accounts, except for the privilege for "Edit object hierarchy and parameters," which is only available for the group of security domain administrators.

To grant privileges:

- 1. Create a list of users and groups that privileges should be granted to. Use the buttons under the list to add or remove accounts.
- Grant required privileges to the accounts by selecting the account and the check box next to the name of the required privilege. To withdraw the privilege, clear the check box.

Special features of granting privileges:

- The "View information" privilege is automatically assigned to all accounts listed under "Users and Groups".
- The "Edit object hierarchy and parameters" priviledge cannot be assigned to added accounts.
- To edit the settings in the "Policies" section, the user should be granted "Edit policies" and "Edit object hierarchy and parameters". In this regard, these settings can only be modified by users from the group of security domain administrators.
- 3. Click Apply.

Alert filtering settings

In the "Filter of Alerts from Subordinate Servers" group, you can manage alert filtering to limit incoming notifications from protected computers of the following subordination levels (subordinate Security Servers). This group is available when selecting the Security Server.

Use the filter to reduce network traffic and only allow notifications about events critical for the administrator to be received.



Note.

When configuring policy settings (see p. 23), you can configure the "Alert filter" settings in the "Alert notification" group. This setting limits the transfer of notifications directly on protected computers. Therefore, alert filtering controls can be used separately for protected computers and servers. This is useful, for example, for configuring different filtering settings for computers subordinated to a lower security server (in the "Policies" section) and a higher security server (in the "Settings" section). In such conditions, computer alert notifications will be filtered on a lower server with criteria different from those used for filtering events from the same computers on a higher server. The number of incoming notifications depends on the server that the connection is established to.

Below, we show how notifications are configured in the "Filter of Alerts from Subordinate Servers" group of the Settings section. Filtering is configured in the same way as in the "Policies" section ("Alert Notification" group).

Filtering is based on a list of rules. In the rules, you specify the conditions for the contents of fields in log entries.

The list of rules can be generated as you work in the "Filter of Alerts from Subordinate Servers" group or by using controls in the system events panel (see p. **38**).

To configure alert filtering:

- 1. Select the filter operating mode by selecting the respective check box:
 - "Do not allow rule-regulated events to pass to the server" the filter does not let through notifications of alerts that meet the conditions in the filtering rules;
 - "Allow only rule-regulated events pass to the server" the mode, where the filter only lets through notifications about alerts that meet rules in the list.

Attention!

To not enable the latter mode when the list of rules is empty. Otherwise, the filter will not let through any alerts. The "Allow only rule-regulated events pass to the server" mode is recommended when incoming notifications of certain events should be let through and all others blocked. To do this, create rules to describe such events.

2. Create a list of filtering rules. To work with the list of rules, use the buttons under it.

| Button | Description |
|--------|--|
| Edit | Opens a dialog box where you can configure settings of the selected rule (see below) |
| Add | Adds a new rule to the list. Settings of the new rule are configured in the dialog box (see below) |
| Remove | Removes the selected element from the list |

- **3.** After configuring the rules, enable the filter by clearing the check box next to "Disable filter."
- 4. Click Apply.

Configuring filtration rule settings

The "Filtration rules" dialog box is shown in the figure below.

| | Filtration rules |
|-------------|---|
| Filtrati | on rules |
| Source: | LocalProtection |
| Category: | 7 |
| Events: | 1052 • |
| | If the required category is not in the list, enter its code on the line. If the list does not contain the required event, enter its code with a semicolon as a separator: 1045; 2045. Leave the field empty to define any category or event. |
| Rule title: | Rule no.1 |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | Apply Cancel |

To configure filtering rule settings:

- 1. In the "Rule title" field, edit the name for the element in the list of rules.
- 2. Configure event analysis settings:

Source

Contains the component or subsystem name specified at event registration as a source. Select the required source

Category

Contains a numeric code of the event category. Select the code of the required category from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of categories available for selection depends on the specified source

Events

Contains numeric identifiers of events. Select identifiers of the required events from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of events available for selection depends on the category specified. Identifiers are delimited by ";"

Note.

Details of events can be received when viewing alert log entries on the General tab (see p. 44). Sources, category codes and identifiers of events appear, respectively, in the following fields of the tab: "Source," "Category" and "Events".

3. Click Apply.

Secret Net Studio tracing settings

The Control Center makes it possible to centrally enable and configure tracing settings — a service function to gather information about the operation of Secret Net Studio. During tracing, service data about the functioning of program modules is written to special files. This data is required for troubleshooting failure or errors.

Tracing settings appear in the "Tracing Management" group. This group is available when the Security Server or computer is selected. To get information about action required for configuration, contact Technical Support.



Attention!

We do not recommend enabling the tracing feature unless it is necessary. To avoid unnecessary load on the computer, this feature should be disabled in the standard operation mode of Secret Net Studio.

Chapter 4 Monitoring and operational management

Viewing details

General status of the system

The Start panel, which is shown in the figure below, contains details of the general status of system security. To view these details, click Start at the top of the navigation panel (on the left in the main window).



There is a round alert indicator showing the overall state of the system in the center of the panel. The inside of the circle shows the number of unresolved alerts with the highest level in the System and is colored accordingly. The outside part shows the ratio of existing alerts of different levels.

All unresolved alerts in the system are listed on the right of the indicator.

Comment.

- Numbers in the indicator and the list on the right are hyperlinks. You can click them to view information about these events in the alert log.
- Once acknowledged, these alerts will no longer show up in this panel.
- To find out more about alert levels, seep. **37**.

Below the alert indicator is a chart of the distribution of registered alerts over a time interval. To select the required interval, use the field with a drop-down list in the top right corner of the chart; to configure the display of alerts by their level, use the field with a drop-down list in the top left corner of the chart.

At the bottom of the panel, there are monitoring groups, which are rectangular indicators with information about the state of computers within such groups. Information shown on indicators is further detailed on p. **32**.

Initially, the list of monitoring groups is empty. To add items to it, go to the Computers panel and select the required Security Server or computer group. To create new groups and manage their composition, use commands from the Monitoring submenu of the context menu in the list of computers (commands are available in "Chart" mode).

Object labels on the diagram

Elements of the diagram show key details about the state of objects. Details appear as icons and numeric data next to them (for example, the number of alerts on a protected computer or the number of open user sessions).

An example of the diagram with displayed details is shown in the figure p. 13.

The Security Server with an established connection is labeled with a special icon.

Numeric data is provided in two or more lines for Security Servers and computer groups: the upper line includes the total number of events/indications on all subordinated computers (for example, the aggregate number of alerts or the number of running computers), while lines under it display the number of computers or subordinated Security Servers with computers. Some numeric data is links that can be used to filter the lists of computers, for example, to display only computers with alert features in the chart.

Additional details of objects are shown in pop-up windows that appear when the cursor is pointed at objects.

The icons are listed in the table below:

٩

| Icon | Description |
|---------------|--|
| 1 | The computer/s is/are locked. The number corresponds to the number of reasons for locking. In this example, there is one reason |
| 粱 | A virus was detected on the computer(s). The number represents a counter of registered virus detections |
| 7 4 | Alerts were registered on the computer(s). The number represents a counter of registered highest alerts. The maximum numeric value of the counter is 999 events. If this is exceeded, the counter shows "99+" |
| 6 | Errors (the icon is red) or warnings (yellow) were detected on the computer(s) during the check of licenses for Secret Net Studio components. The number is a counter of events of the relevant type |
| AK | A change in hardware configuration was registered on the computer(s) |
| 1 | User sessions are open on the computer(s). The number corresponds to the number of open sessions. The color background shows the local administrator session |
| 74 | An alert filter is active on the computer(s) |
| P LC | Errors (the icon is red) or warnings (yellow) were detected on computers subordinated to the Security Server during the check of licenses for Secret Net Studio components |
| ■ | The Security Server database is full |
| OFF | The computer's account is disabled |

Icons are arranged in order of descending priority of display. Icons with a higher priority appear first in diagram elements. If an element doesn't have enough area allocated for displaying all icons, the least significant ones are excluded.

Details in the hierarchical list of control objects

Details about the state of objects are presented as a table in the Computers panel when the list of control objects is displayed. To enable the table display mode in the Computers panel, on the View tab double-click the Table button.

An example of a control objects list is shown in the figure below.

| 0 | | | | | | | | | WIN-AD. | sns.com : Secret | Net Studio - C | ontrol center | | - 6 | × |
|-------------|----------|------------------------|--|----------------------------------|-------------|----------|----------|----------|--------------------------|------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|---------------------------|----------|
| (: | 3) (| 30 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | | 💩 OM structure | AD structure | | Acknowledge | + ≒ Logs | • 🖹 Comm | ands 🔻 🖁 | Archiving * | | | | | | |
| <u></u> | VEW | | TABLE | | | | ACTIONS | | | | | | | | |
| ιQ | Name | | - 🕛 High | Bevate | d Low | | FC | 4 | L Sessions | Last connection | Licenses | Security domain | Version | | 鹵 |
| 712 | ⊖ ₩win- | -AD.sns.com | ⁽⁾ | | 3 | 11 | | | | | | SNS.COM | 8.3.1406.0 | | |
| 22 | <u> </u> | IN-AU SIS COM | 0 | | 3 | | Ň | | Sing value in the second | | T Demo | SNS.COM | 8.3.1406.0 | | $ \Psi $ |
| 12 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 6 |
| a۳- | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - |
| 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 50 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ľ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Туре | Date and time | V Event | | | | | | | | | | Description | a la bandard | 1/21 - |
| | | 10/30/2017 12:01:19 PF | Corriguration re Session opening | equest. J. Server WIN-AD | sns.com | | | | | | | | Session is ope | n is loaded. ened. | |
| | ý | 10/30/2017 12:01:19 PF | M Session opening | Server WIN-AD | lans.com | | | | | | | | Request is sen | nt to the server. | |
| | | 10/30/2017 12:01:10 PF | Closing session. M Closing session. | Server WIN-AD. Server WIN-AD. | sns.com | | | | | | | | Request is sen | sec. nt to the server. | |
| ø | 2 | 10/30/2017 11:26:12 At | M Configuration re | equest. | | | | | | | | | Configuration | n is loaded. | |
| | | 10/30/2017 11:26:12 At | M Session opening | Server WIN-AD | sns.com | | _ | _ | | _ | | _ | Session is ope | ened. | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Information about computers and Security Servers is displayed in columns:

"Power on" icon

Shows the icon if the computer or server is on

High, Elevated, Low

Shows the number of alerts that occurred on the protected computer and are awaiting acknowledgment (confirmation of receipt) by the security administrator. The High column indicates the number of critical alerts (with the high level of alert). The other columns indicate the number of less significant alerts (with elevated and low levels of alert)

"Lock" icon

Shows the enabled lock icon if the computer is locked. To get more information about the reason for locking, hover the cursor over the cell and information will be displayed in a message box next to the cursor

Functional control (FC)

Shows an icon that corresponds to the result of functional control when the computer starts up. To get more information, hover the cursor over the cell, and information will be displayed in a message box next to the cursor

Sessions

Shows brief information about active sessions or the name of a user who opened session. To get more information, hover the cursor over the cell, and information will be displayed in a message box next to the cursor

Last connection

Shows the time of the last connection to the Security Server for a computer that is off

Licenses

Shows icons if errors (red icon) or warnings (yellow) were detected during the check of licenses for Secret Net Studio components. The number of errors or warnings is shown next to the icon.

Security domain

Shows the name of the security domain that the object belongs to

Version

Shows the version number of the installed Secret Net Studio software (the Security Server or the Client)

Managing the display of control object list information

You can sort the information about the state of control objects by table column contents. You can sort in the standard way by using the column headings. If necessary, you can also change the composition of displayed columns and their order. To configure the columns, call up the context menu in the header row, then click "Column settings" and use the dialog box to generate the list of displayed columns.

Printing and exporting information about computers

The program makes it possible to send for printing and/or save (export) information about computers displayed in the objects list.

The information is exported in RTF format. To load the contents of RTF files, use applications that support these files, such as, Microsoft Word.



0

Attention!

We do not recommend loading the file into Windows WordPad editor, because this editor may distort the formatting. If you do not have Microsoft Word, you can use Word Viewer to view and print RTF files. This application is free and available for download on the Microsoft web site.

To print or export information:

- 1. Prepare a table with an object list for data output: Configure the display of information (if necessary) and do not disable the display of servers and computers in the table.
- **2.** If you want to print or save information about specific computers included in the table, select the required computers in the table.
- 3. Click Print.

The settings panel appears as in the figure below.

| Finit computer list | | | | |
|----------------------|---|-------------------|--|--|
| Records | All records Selected | | | |
| Detailed information | add detailed informat | tion for computer | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

4. Configure the information output settings.

"Records" group of fields

This specifies which records will be printed or saved:

- "All records" the operation is performed for all computers in the list;
- "Selected" the operation is only performed for those computers that are selected in the table

"Detailed information" field

If the check box is selected, the System will additionally provide for computers the information that is not explicitly indicated in the table (for example, the reason for locking)

 To open the preview page, click "Preview..." at the bottom of the "Print computer list" panel.

Note.

The preview window makes it possible to send a document for printing by using the standard button on the toolbar.

6. Click the respective button at the bottom of the panel:

- To start printing, click "Print" and specify the general printing options (selected printer, number of copies, etc.) in the Windows configuration dialog box;
- To save the information in a file, click "Export to RTF..." and specify the file in the Windows file saving dialog box.

Information about the state of objects

Information about the state of objects is displayed in the Computers panel on the Status tab. When information display is enabled, the Computers panel looks like in the figure below.



Key information about the object and security domain that it belongs to and controls available for the object appear in the Status tab.

Details in the system events panel

The system events panel can be used to receive details of changes in the state of protected computers. An example of panel is shown in the figure below.

| 1700 | | | o company | |
|------|------------------------|--|--------------------------------|---|
| 2 | 10/30/2017 11:19-49 AM | Alert log request. | Log received. | |
| 2 | 10/30/2017 11:19:35 AM | Configuration request. | Configuration is loaded. | |
| | 10/30/2017 11:19:35 AM | Session opening. Server WIN-AD.ans.com | Session is opened. | |
| - 50 | 10/30/2017 11:19:35 AM | Session opening. Server WIN-AD.sns.com | Request is sent to the server. | |
| | 10/16/2017 4:42:43 PM | Closing session. Server WIN-AD.sns.com | Session is closed. | |
| - 32 | 10/16/2017 4:42:43 PM | Closing session. Server WIN-AD.sns.com | Request is sent to the server. | |
| 2 | 10/16/2017 4:42:39 PM | Configuration request. | Configuration is loaded. | ٠ |
| | | | | |

Details of the following types can be displayed in the system events panel:

- "Network events" are notifications about changes in the state of monitored objects, their configuration and connection with the Security Server (for example, "<computer_name> is locked," "Connection with the server lost...", etc.);
- "User actions" are notifications about users actions (for example, "Alert acknowledgment for agents...", etc.);
- "Alert events" are notifications of alert registration on protected computers (for example, "Station alerts").

If no colors are customized for notifications, details received during the current session with the program are shown on a white background. Details of other sessions are on a gray background.

You can change the parameters for displaying the data in the system event panel (see p. **10**).

Viewing detailed information about events

The system events panel can display detailed information about events, for example, in notifications about events such as changes in the device control policy or alerts. Detailed information is displayed as a table block. To display it, click the button for expanding the hierarchy in the left part of the line.

The table block of the notification on changes in policies includes lists of policies and their modified values. Key details received in notifications are shown for alerts. To
load all alert details in the block, click the "Get Alert Description" link, and details will be loaded to the block as log entries with a description of events. When viewing entries, you can use the same display configuration options as in the main table with log entries (sorting, grouping, column selection, etc.).

Additional details of an event can also be displayed. To do this, call the context menu of the event entry and click the "Detailed" command, and a panel with a detailed description opens in the right part of the system events panel. If details of an event include information about any device, this information can be copied to the clipboard so that the device is later added with these settings to the group policy. To perform this action, run the "Copy Device" command in the context menu of the detailed description panel.

Automatic display of recent details

New notifications about events are put at the end of the list. To make it easier to view up-to-date information, the list has a mode for automatically scrolling to the most recently added element.

To enable this mode, right-click anywhere in the system events panel and click the "Automatic scroll" command.

Exporting details

The program supports saving (exporting) details that are displayed in the system events panel to files. The export is performed to XML files.

To export, run context menu commands, such as "Export..." and "Export All...". The "Export..." command is used to export individual selected lines of the details table. To export the entire table, right-click anywhere in the system events panel and click the "Export All" command.

Tracking alerts

The Control Center notifies about events requiring the attention of the security administrator (alerts). Such events are registered on protected computers in the Secret Net Studio log or a standard OS security log, and their type is "Audit Failure" or "Errors."

Alerts vary by the degree of significance of the events themselves and the importance of the object affected by them. Critical events may raise a "high" alert for objects of great importance or an "elevated" alert for objects of usual importance. Less significant events raise an "elevated" or "low" alert corresponding to the importance of objects.

The Security Server accumulates alert details in a separate log. The alert log is updated from notifications delivered by protected computers to the Security Server.

Notifications about alerts

The Control Center immediately notifies the user about alerts as soon as it receives notifications about their occurrence. A notification involves giving different visual signals. For example, relevant elements of the control chart become highlighted in red. Sound signals can be also be used for notification.

The notification is disabled and the object resumes its usual appearance after alerts are acknowledged.

Statistics of unacknowledged alerts are shown as indicators and event distribution charts on the Start panel.



Attention!

Alerts should be acknowledged before the alert log is archived. If entries that were not acknowledged are put in the archive, the value of the alert counter is reduced, and the security administrator can miss information about unauthorized access. In this case, to acknowledge events, the alert log should be restored from the archive to the Security Server database, and then information can be processed in the usual manner.

Alert acknowledgment

The alert acknowledgment is a confirmation that the security administrators received the information and describes the actions taken. Every alert requires an explanation for its occurrence and that urgent action is taken to ensure the security of the information system. After the security administrator has taken note of and analyzed the circumstances for the alert emerged, the acknowledgment procedure is performed to confirm that the information was received.

To acknowledge, the administrator enters a text comment describing the reasons and action taken, and the comment is saved in the System together with an indication that the event was acknowledged. Information about the alert itself is not deleted from the log. In the future, the alert log can be used to find out who responded to events that occurred, how, and when. After all events received from the computer are acknowledged, this object returns to its normal display.



Note.

In addition to alert acknowledgments, where the security administrator must enter a comment, the program supports resetting event counters (see below on). Resetting counters is only intended for situations that involve configuring Secret Net Studio and should not be used in the standard mode of operation.

Alerts are acknowledged when using the alert log in the "Alert Logs" panel (see p. **57**).

Resetting alert counters

When notifications of registered alerts are received, event counters and modified object icons are displayed until the values of the counters for these objects are reset to zero.

Counter values are reduced as alerts are acknowledged (see above). If Secret Net Studio operates normally, counters should be reset to zero only through event acknowledgment, because the acknowledgment procedure involves viewing information about events and adding more specific comments by the security administrator.

When configuring Secret Net Studio settings during test operation, you can reset alert counter values to promptly return to the normal display of objects. When counters are reset, the system treats as noted all the alerts that occurred on the protected computer(s) as of the receipt of the command. However, unlike the acknowledgment procedure, the security administrator is not prompted for a more specific comment when counters are reset. The system saves information about how and when values were reset to zero, together with information about alerts.

To reset alert counters:

- 1. Select the required objects in the diagram or objects list.
- 2. Right-click one of the selected objects, expand the "Acknowledge" submenu, and click the required command:
 - "All alerts" is used to acknowledge all events regardless of alert levels;
 - "High alerts" is only used to acknowledge "high" level alerts;
 - "Elevated alerts" is only used to acknowledge "elevated" level alerts;
 - "Low alerts" is only used to acknowledge "low" level alerts.
- **3.** Confirm the operation.

Objects return to their normal display. A notification about the outcomes of the performed action appears in the system events panel.

Creating filtration rules based on alert notifications

To selectively track events, you can configure a filter to determine alert notifications that should be delivered to the Security Server. The alerts filter runs independently from the event registration policy in local logs, allowing important changes in the system to be controlled without reducing the scope of information stored in local logs. The filter can be applied when transferring notifications from protected computers to the Security Server (configured in the Alert Notifications group of the Policies section of the object properties panel) and when transferring notifications received by subordinated Security Servers (configured in the Settings section).

Filtration rules are automatically added to newly created rules on the basis of selected details. Rule creation in the event panel is designed for alert notifications received during the current session of working with the program.

To add a rule in the system event panel:

1. In the system event panel, go to the alert notification and expand the block with detailed information about events. To do this, hover the cursor over the notification line and double left-click or click the button to expand the hierarchy in the left part of the line.

Note.

For a description of the system event panel and features for controlling information display, see p. 36.

- In the block with detailed information, call up the context menu and expand the "Add event filtration rule" submenu.
- **3.** Click the command to add the rule to the required filter. The alert filter can be set up in group policies (if policies are not read-only) or in the Security Server settings.

After the command is run in the Computer panel, the respective group of settings opens, and the new rule appears in the list of rules. If the rule to be added can effect the application of preexisting settings, you will be prompted to confirm the action before it is added. In this case, you should check the settings you made before continuing the operation.

Operational Management

Commands are used to carry out operational management of protected computers. Operational management commands can apply to computers of the connection server itself (the Security Server that the program is connected to) and subordinated servers. In this case, the computer selected for management should be running.



Note.

If any operational command cannot be currently run, it is either missing in the menu or inactive.

Locking and unlocking computers

Computers can be remotely locked or unlocked. Commands apply to individual computers, the Security Servers and groups of computers. If the Security Server or group is selected, local logs are collected from all computers subordinated to the Security Server or included in the group.

When the command to lock is received, a message appears, and the current users session is interrupted. At the same time, the event "Computer locked by the System," which is an alert, is registered in the Secret Net Studio log. Only a member of the local group of administrators can unlock the computer.

If the computer is locked by Secret Net Studio, icons of affected objects in the Control Center appear modified (see p. **32**). The unlock command can be applied to this computer. When the command to unlock is received, a message appears, and the user can resume their work.

To lock computers:

- On the diagram or in the object list, select the required object (computer, group, the Security Server) or select multiple objects.
- Right-click the selected object (one of the selected objects), point to the "Commands" submenu and click "Lock". When you are prompted to continue, confirm the operation.

To unlock computers:

- 1. On the diagram or in the object list, select the required object (computer, group, the Security Server) or select multiple objects.
- Right-click the selected object (one of the selected objects), point to the "Commands" submenu and click "Unlock". When you are prompted to continue, confirm the operation.

Restarting and shutting down computers

You can remotely initiate the restart or shutdown of running computers. Commands apply to individual computers, Security Servers and groups of computers. If the Security Server or group is selected, the corresponding action (restart or shut down) will be performed for all computers subordinated to that server.

The computer is restarted or shut down regardless of the number of open applications and unsaved documents. When the command is received, a message appears, and the computer user can save open documents during 15 seconds after the message appears.

To restart or shut down computers:

- 1. On the diagram or in the object list, select the required object (computer, group, Security Server) or select multiple objects.
- Right-click one of the selected objects, point to the "Commands" submenu, and click the "Restart" or "Shut Down" command to restart or shut down the computer. When you are prompted to continue, confirm the operation.

Updating group policies on computers

An update of group policies can be initiated remotely for running computers. The command applies to individual computers, Security Servers, and groups of computers. If the Security Server or group is selected, group policies are updated on all Windows OS computers subordinated to the Security Server or included in the group.

A forced update accelerates the application of centrally imposed group policies on computers.

To update group policies on computers:

- On the diagram or in the object list, select the required object (computer, group, the Security Server) or select multiple objects.
- Right-click the selected object (one of the selected objects), point to the "Commands" submenu and click "Apply Group Policies".

Approving changes to hardware configuration

Changes to hardware configuration can be approved remotely for running computers. The computer where a change to hardware configuration was recorded is marked on the diagram with a special icon (see p. **32**).

To approve hardware configuration of a computer:

 Right-click the computer with the modified hardware configuration and click the "Approve Hardware Configuration" command.

A dialog box appears with a list of devices different from those in the standard hardware configuration of the computer.

 To register changes in the standard hardware configuration of the computer, click "Approve".

Note.

Hardware configuration can be approved when previewing details in the system event panel. To approve the configuration, call up the context menu of the notification "Hardware configuration has been modified on the <*computer_name*> agent" and click the "Approve Hardware Configuration" command.

Collecting local logs at the administrators command

Local logs of protected computers are transferred to the Security Server DB regularly in accordance with current settings (see p. **25**).

An unscheduled transfer of local logs can be started for running computers. Commands apply to individual computers, Security Servers and groups of computers. If the Security Server or group is selected, local logs are collected from all computers subordinated to the Security Server or included in the group.

To start the transfer of local logs:

- 1. On the fiagram or in the object list, select the required objects.
- Right-click one of the selected objects and expand the "Collect logs from computer" from the "Logs" submenu.
- **3.** Click the command with the name of the required log or "All" if all local logs need to be transferred to the Security Server DB.

A notification appears in the system events panel that the collection of local logs has started. Progress status is displayed in the "Description" column.

Controlling the operation of security mechanisms on computers

For running computers, you can use operational configuration features of the operation of security mechanisms.

To configure the operation of security mechanisms on computers:

- 1. On the diagram or in the object list, select the required objects.
- 2. Enable the display of object settings (by running the "Properties..." command in the context menu) and go to the "Status" tab (see p. 36).
- **3.** Click the button of the required mechanism (for example, "Data Wipe").

A dialog box appears under the button with information about the mechanism.

4. To enable or disable the security mechanism, move the switch on the right of the dialog box heading to the required position. When you are prompted to continue, confirm the operation.

Note.

The security mechanism can be enabled if there is a valid license for the mechanism. The switch is present in the dialog box heading if the license for this mechanism is active. The list of licenses is managed on the "Licenses" tab.

5. If there are additional settings for the mechanism, use controls in the dialog box to perform the required actions.

Chapter 5 Using centralized logs

Centralized logs can be loaded from the Security Server database if the program is connected to the server. Entries can be loaded from files when the program is connected to the Security Server or runs in the on-premises mode.

Centralized logs

The Security Server database accumulates the following logs:

- the alert log that combines all entries for alerts from all controlled computers;
- the event log that combines the Secret Net Studio log and standard Windows OS logs from all controlled computers;
- the Security Server log.

Information from these logs can be imported in full or in part to the Control Center.

Alert log

The alert log is the centralized storage of information about alerts occurring on protected computers. An alert is an event registered locally in the Secret Net Studio log or a standard OS security log, and its type is "Audit Failure" or "Errors." The alert log is updated from alert notifications delivered to the Security Server.

The security administrator can use details in the alert log to promptly receive the most important information about attempted unauthorized access to the system. Details of an alert are registered in the respective local log and are delivered to the Security Server that saves them to the alert log. As a result, the system duplicates details of the event to reduce the risk of loss of information.

An alert filter, determining criteria for selective event tracking, may be enabled for computers. If filtering rules are not set, the alert log receives information about every alert on the computer.

Information about events is logged as entries. Each entry includes a set of fields with data from the local log, as well as fields with additional data (type of local log, agent information, threat level, acknowledgment and other parameters).

Combined computer log

The combined computer log (also called the station log) is the centralized storage of the contents of local logs from protected computers. Local logs include the Secret Net Studio log and standard Windows OS logs (applications log, system log and security log). For a description of the use of local logs, see document [**3**].

Local logs are delivered for centralized storage to the Security Server database in accordance with the preconfigured settings (see p. **25**).

Details received from local logs are saved in full in the combined log. Together with these details, the system records additional information (type of local log, agent information, threat level and other parameters).

Security server log

The Security Server maintains a log of access sessions to the server opened by the Security Net Studio components and programs, including internal sessions of the Security Server.

Information about sessions is logged in the form of entries. Each entry includes a set of fields containing the following information:

 General information about the session: computer name, session opening initiators (component and user), time the session was opened and closed;

- Basic information about actions performed during the session: time of each action, result, description of the action;
- Additional information with a detailed description of events (object identifiers, coded designations of results and other parameters).

Storing logs

Logs with event entries can be stored in the following storages:

- local storages on computers where events were registered (local logs);
- the centralized log storage in the Security Server DB;
- archive files created by the Security Server.

Logs stored in the centralized storage or archive files can be viewed in the Control Center. Before the current contents of local logs can be viewed in the program, logs should first be transferred for storage to the Security Server DB.

Local storage of logs

When events are registered, related entries are placed into relevant local logs and stored on the protected computer. As long as entries are kept in the local storage, they can be loaded locally on the computer.

Local logs are stored until transferred to the centralized storage on the Security Server. After entries are transferred, the contents of local logs are cleared.



Attention!

When handling local logs, the user with required rights can clear logs before they are transferred to the Security Server. To avoid unauthorized deletion of information, local log control rights should only be granted to trusted users.

Centralized storage

The centralized log storage is kept in the Security Server DB. Details of events registered in the alert log or the Security Server log are received directly by the centralized storage, without being kept intermediately in other storages. The integrated log of computers keeps the contents of local logs as they are transferred from local storages to the Security Server DB. The transfer of local logs from protected computers starts:

- At times specified in the settings for automated log transfer (see p. 25);
- On the command of the Control Center user (see p. 41).

Note.

Entry transfer to a centralized storage can be disabled for standard Windows OS logs. If centralized collection is disabled for a log, it is ignored during local log requests and its contents remain in the local storage.

Log entries are deleted from the centralized storage as logs are archived.

Entries of logs stored in the Security Server DB can only be viewed and managed in the Control Center.

Log archives created by the Security Server

To reduce the volume of the Security Server database, there is a feature for archiving the contents of centralized logs. This archives all log entries in the Security Server DB from the start of the archiving process (for the Security Server log, it archives details of ended sessions). Entries placed in an archive are removed from the centralized storage.

Archiving starts:

- At times specified in the settings for automated log archiving (see p. 26);
- On the command of the Control Center user (see p. 60).

Archived log entries are stored in files. A separate file is created for each archive. By default, the subfolder \Archive located in the Security Server setup folder is used for keeping archives.

Panels to work with log entries

Entries of centralized logs are displayed in the following panels:

- "Alert logs" panel. To go to the log panel when using the program, click the "Alert Logs" link in the navigation panel or the "Log Received" shortcut in the notification in the log request in the system events panel;
- "Station log" panel. To go to the log panel when using the program, click the "Station Logs" link in the navigation panel or the "Log Received" shortcut in the notification in the event log request in the system events panel;
- "Server log" panel. To go to the log panel when using the program, click the "Server Log" link in the navigation panel or the "Log Received" shortcut in the notification in the server log request in the system events panel;
- The log archives panel opens by default if the command to start in standalone mode "Logs Archive" is selected, and the archive file is specified for loading in the mode selection dialog box when the Control Center is launched. When working with the program, you can go to the archives panel by clicking on the Archives shortcut in the navigation panel.

A tab called "request" is created in the panel for loading entries. Several requests at a time can be handled in the panel. To switch between them, select the required request in the request control panel.



The "Alert logs" panel is shown in the figure below.

Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the request control panel; 2 — the information pane; 3 — the panel for information display configuration; 4 — the event description pane.

The "Station log" panel is shown in the figure below.

| | | | | | | | win-AD.sns.o | om : Secret Net | Studió - Con | troi center | | |
|--|---|--|---|--|---|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------|-------------|---|--------|
| | l. | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 🖉 New 📓 Open | | | EVENTS THREA | TS | | | | | | | | |
| 2UERIES | <u>_</u> | \$ | Date v | log | Event | Category | Source | La Comp | Domain | L User | | |
| | (\mathfrak{O}) | ۹. | 10/30/2017 3:38:06 PM | Secret Net St. | Integrity Ch | Integrity co | LocalProtec | Winda&d4.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | 25 | |
| XTERNAL LOGS | <u> </u> | 0 | 10/30/2017 3:37:57 PM | Secret Net St. | (EN]Update | (EN)Update | UpdateClient | Winda8x64.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | 9 | |
| P 12.snlog | E × | 0 | 10/30/2017 3:37:43 PM | Secret Net St. | (EN)The Do | (EN)Update | UpdateClient | Winda&d4.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | θ | 10/30/2017 3:37:39 PM | Secret Net St. | Data Protec | Monitoring | Network9ro | Winda8x64.te | | | | |
| | | ٩ | 10/30/2017 3:37:24 PM | Secret Net St. | Modificatio | Mandatory | LocalProtec | Winda®x64.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | ٩ | 10/30/2017 3:37:20 PM | Secret Net St. | Device con | Device acce | Local Protec | Winda&d4.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | | 10/30/2017 3:37:20 PM | Secret Net St. | Device con | Device acce | LocalProtec | Winda8x64.te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | | 10/30/2017 3-37-20 PM | Serret Net St. | Device con | Device acce | I or al Protect | Windaße64 te | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | | 10/20/2017 2:07:20 PM | Carriet Nat Ct | Deside con | Device acce | LocalProtec | Windshift to | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | | |
| | | 2 | 10/30/2017 3/37/20 PM | Secret iver Sc. | Device cont. | Device acces | Locarrolec | WIT080.004-10 | NT WOTHOS | STOLEM | | |
| | | DE | FAILS GENERAL F | PARAMETERS | | | | | | | | 17/661 |
| | | | Modification of the resource Process name: \device\hard Process ID: 1324 Resource name: c\window | e's confidentiality p ddiskvolume2\data s\temp\scan_works | arameters. protection studi er 847474 | io\client\snsrv.ex | z | A | | | | |
| | | | Modification of the resource Process name: Velocie/har Process name: Cywindow New parameters: Confidentisithy level: Level Inheritance flags: missing Old parameters: Confidentisithy level: Non- inheritance flags: missing | e's confidentiality p ddiskvolume2(data s(temp),scan_works of confidentiality # confidential | iarameters. protection studi ir_847474 i16 | io),dient(unsrwes | z | | | | | |
| | | Data | Modification of the resource Process name: Underschaft Resource name: chwindow New parameters: Confidentiskly level-Level Inheitance flags: missing Old parameters: Confidentiskly level-Non- inheritance flags: missing | e's confidentiality p ddiskvolume2/data s/temp/scan_works of confidentiality 4 confidential | iarameters. probection studi ir_847474 i16 | io),dient/unsrv.es | æ | | | | | |
| yse Date and time | e V Event | Data | Modification of the resource Process name (velocity)are Resource name (Resource name) Resource name (Confidentiality level: Level missing Old parameters: Confidentiality level: Non- inheritance Sigs: missing | e's confidentiality p ddiskvolume2/data sytemp/scan_works of confidential | iarameters. protection studi ir_847474 i16 | io),dient/snsrv.eo | æ | | | | Deception | |
| ype Date and firms | e V Event 19235 AM Event le 19255 AM Event le | Data | Medifation of the resource Process new Cytelrocity Process ID: 1244 Resource name Cytelrocity Process ID: 1246 New garameters Confedentially livest Level missing Confedentially livest Level interfatore Biggs missing | e's confidentiality p ddiskvolume2(data st,temp(scan_works of confidential | arameters. protection stud rr_847474 | io),Gient(ursrv.eo | æ | ③ | | | Occupies. | |
| Vie Dute and time 10/31/2017 15: 2 10/31/2017 15: 3 10/31/2017 15: 3 10/31/2017 15: | e V Event 10236 AM Event lo 10225 AM Event lo 10213 AM Event lo | Data og reque | Madifation of the resource Process mer Underworker Process ID 134 International Control (1997) New parameter work of the second second metal and the second metal of t | e's confidentiality p ddsixwolume2(dbs st)temp/scan_worka of confidentiality # | arameters. protection stud w_B47474 116 | io),dient(unsrv.eo | z | | | | Oncolos La participad | |
| yse Date and crime 1001/2027 15 1001/2027 15 1001/2027 15 1001/2027 15 | e V Event 1973 5 AM Event lo 1972 5 AM Event lo 1972 5 AM Event lo 1972 7 AM Event lo 1972 7 AM Event lo | Data og reque og reque og reque | Madifation of the resource Process near Lythong have Process near Lythong have Resource nume cycluders Resource nume cycluders Confidentially level. Non- Inhertance Bags: missing etc. | e's confidentially diskivolume2(atta s)temp\scan_works of confidentiality 4 confidential | arameters. protection stud er_047474 116 | io),client(prarveo | × | 0 | | | Decoption Lagrantide Lagrantide Lagrantide Lagrantide | |
| yee Cate and Erme 10/1/2/2017 10 10/1/2/2017 10 10/1/2017 10 10/1/20 | e V Evret 0936 AM Evret la 0923 AM Evret la | Data og reque og reque og reque | Madifation of the resource Process new Lytheraphare Process ID 134 Process ID 134 New parameters microsoft microsoft microsoft Conferentiable Inter Level initiating Cold parameters microsoft micros | e's confidentiality pro | arameters. protection stud rg_047474 116 | io),dient(prarveo | z | | | | Onception Lagrantical Lagrantical Lagrantical Lagrantical | |

Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the request control panel; 2 — the information pane; 3 — the entry management panel; 4 — the event description pane.



The "Server log" panel is shown in the figure below.

Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the request control panel; 2 — the session list pane; 3 — the information pane of the selected session; 4 — the panel for information display configuration; 5 — the event description pane.

The panel of logs archives is shown in the figure below.

| | ✓ ③ ② Q | | | | | | | | | | • |
|---------|-----------------------------------|-----|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------|---------------------|-------------|--------|--------|---------|-----|
| 0 | Dpen Q New * | | EVENTS | THREATS | | | | | | | |
| | 🛛 🚞 ARCHIVES | 暾 | Date 🔻 | Event | Category | Source | Comput | Domain | 💄 User | 🕈 Level | 하 |
| ر م | 🖯 🛗 2016-09-16-090927-912.omax 🗡 | | 9/16/2016 9:0 | Computer entered emergency mode. | System | SnNetworkProtection | WIN7.KOD.UY | | | Low | ~~ |
| تىت | 🗏 Server log 🛛 👔 🗡 | | 9/15/2016 12: | Computer entered emergency mode. | System | SnNetworkProtection | WIN7.KOD.UY | | | Low | 6 |
| - | B 🖵 WIN7.KOD.UY | | <u>73</u> | | | | | | | | 12 |
| 8 | Alerts × | | \bigcirc | | | | | | | | |
| - | Security X | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | (3) |
| | Q, QUERIES | | | | | | | | | | - |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 4 | | | | | | | | 100 | * |
| Ę | Server: WIN-P9TK79I4O1A KOD UV | Der | ETAILS GEI | NERAL PARAMETERS ACKNO | WLEDGEMENT | | | | | 115 @ | 2 |
| | Records until: | De | | | | | | | | | |
| | 9/16/2016 9:09:22 AM | | Computer enter Computer: WI | N7 | | | | | | | |
| | User: | | | | | | | | | | |
| | KOD\kod | Dat | ta | | | | | | | | |
| | Description: | | - | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ÷ | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | í . | (| |

暾

۵

3

Comment.

The figure shows: 1 — the request control panel; 2 — the information pane; 3 — the panel for information display configuration; 4 — the event description pane; 5 — the pane with key information about the archive.

Key interface elements:

Request control panel

Contains lists of requests for loading entries. Requests are grouped in the following sections:

- "Standard requests" are requests with predefined criteria for picking entries loaded from the log (only for an alert log)
- "Requests" are requests created by the user to load entries from a log
- "External logs" are requests created as entries when loading from files
- "Archives" are requests generated as a result of analysis of the contents of loaded archives

Information pane

Contains information about events in the log in the form of a table with a list of entries.

Panel for information display configuration

Contains buttons for calling configuration controls for requests, printing, and entry export

Event description pane

Contains detailed information about the selected event. Information about events is grouped in the following tabs:

- "Details" contains a detailed description and received data. If details of an event
 include information about any device, this information can be copied to the clipboard so
 that the device is later added with these settings to the group policy;
- "General" contains the full list of fields and their values in the entry about a registered event. The list is provided as a table;
- "Parameters" contains the list of Secret Net Studio settings received from a detailed description of the event. The list is provided as a table;
- "Acknowledgment" contains details about who and when acknowledgment (confirmation of receipt) was performed for the selected entry and a text comment with a description of actions. The tab shows only for the alert log when an entry with an indication of acknowledgment is selected.

To enable or disable the event description pane, click the "Detailed" command in the context menu of the event entry or click the button on the right in the bottom line of the information pane.

Loading log entries

Requests for the alert log

The program allows requests for loading alert log entries to be created as follows:

- Creating statistics-based requests
- Context creation of requests for objects
- Creating requests with predefined selection criteria
- Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria
- Creating requests for loading log entries from files

Creating statistics-based requests

Statistics about alerts are provided on the Start panel. The system condition indicator, with the total number of alerts (if there are any unacknowledged events), appears in the top left corner of the main Control Center window.

Alert counters on the Start panel and in the system state indicator can be used to create requests for loading alert log entries. To create a new request, select the value of the required counter. A new request where entries will be imported automatically appears in the alert log panel.

Context creation of requests for objects

Requests for loading alert log entries can be created for objects selected in the control chart panel or in the objects list. Rules for selecting and filtering by the context of selected objects and commands are automatically created for such requests.

For context creation of a request:

1. Select the required objects in the control chart or objects list.

Note.

Event counters displayed next to objects notify about registered alerts, if any, waiting for acknowledgment (confirmation of receipt) by the security administrator (see p. 32 and p. 33).

- **2.** Right-click one of selected objects, expand the Logs/Alert Log submenu and click the required command:
 - "All alerts" is used to get details of events of all alert levels.
 - "High-level alerts," "Elevated-level alerts" and "Low-level alerts" are used to get details of only events with the required alert level.

Creating requests with predefined selection criteria

You can use requests with predefined selection criteria to promptly import unacknowledged entries into the program about alerts registered within a specified period or those with a specific alert level.

Requests with predefined selection criteria are created in the log panel. We recommend you to create such requests when there are unacknowledged alert entries in the system.

To create a request with predefined selection criteria:

• In the Standard Requests section of the request control panel, hover the cursor over the list element that corresponds to the required period or importance of events, and double-click it.

A new request will be created in the log panel with the corresponding settings, and the export of entries from the log is automatically initiated. After entries are loaded, a notification with a link to the new request appears in the system event panel that the log was received.

Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria

Requests with arbitrary entry selection criteria are created to subsequently configure settings and start the import of entries manually.

Requests are created in the alert log panel.

To create a request:

1. Click New in the request control panel.

A new request is created in the log panel and a panel appears on the right to configure its settings.

2. Configure settings of the new request (see p. 51) and click "Query the DB" at the bottom of the settings panel.

This initiates the import of entries from the log. After entries are loaded, a notification with a link to the new request appears in the system event panel that the log has been received.

Creating requests for loading alert log entries from files

Alert log entries can be stored in special format *.snua files. Entries from such files are imported to the alert log panel by creating individual requests for each file.

The file to be loaded can be specified when the program starts in on-premises mode (see p. **7**), or when the program is used in the alert log panel.

To create a request to import entries from the file in the alert log panel:

1. Click Open in the request control panel.

A dialog box appears.

2. Select the required file.

A new request where entries from the file will be imported is created in the log panel.

Requests for the stations log

The program allows requests for loading stations log entries to be created as follows:

- Context creation of requests for objects
- Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria
- Creating requests for loading stations log entries or local logs from files

Context creation of requests for objects

Requests for loading stations log entries can be created for objects selected in the control chart panel or in the objects list. Rules for selecting and filtering by the context of selected objects and commands are automatically created for such requests.

For context creation of a request:

- 1. Select the required objects in the control chart or objects list.
- 2. Right-click one of the selected objects, expand the Logs/Computer Logs from the DB submenu and click the command in line with the required entry selection criteria. You can load event entries that have arrived from specific local logs separately or from the Secret Net Studio log together with the security log. The Create Request command is used to create a request and then to go to the Stations Log panel to configure request settings (see p. 51).

After the command to load event entries received from specific local logs is run, the import of entries from the stations log is initiated automatically. After entries are loaded, a notification appears in the system event panel that the log has been received. To go to log entries, click the "Log Received" link in the notification.

Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria

Requests with arbitrary entry selection criteria are created to subsequently configure settings and start the import of entries manually.

Requests for loading stations log entries are created in the Stations Logs panel.

To create a request:

1. Click New in the request control panel.

A new request is created in the Stations Logs panel, and a panel appears on the right to configure its settings.

2. Configure settings of the new request (see p. 51) and click "Query the DB" at the bottom of request settings panel.

This initiates the import of entries from the log. After entries are loaded, a notification with a link to the new request appears in the system event panel that the log was received.

Creating requests for loading stations log entries or local logs from files

Stations log entries can be stored in special format *.snlog files. Entries from such files are imported to the Stations Logs panel by creating individual requests for each file.

In addition, individual requests, similar to requests for loading the stations log, can be created for *.evt* files, a standard format of the Windows OS event log.

The file to be loaded can be specified when the program starts in on-premises mode (see p. **7**) or when the program is used in the Stations Log panel.

To create a request to import entries from the file in the "Station Log" panel:

1. Click Open in the request control panel.

A dialog box appears.

2. Select the required file.

A new request where entries from the file will be imported is created in the Stations Logs panel.

Requests for the Security Server log

The program allows requests for loading Security Server log entries to be created as follows:

- Context creation of requests
- Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria
- Creating requests for loading security server log entries from files.

Context creation of requests

Requests for loading the Security Server log entries can be created when using the control chart panel or the objects list. Rules for selecting and filtering by the context of selected commands can be automatically created for such requests.

For context creation of a request:

- 1. In the control chart or the objects list, right-click the Security Server whose log needs to be loaded. In the context menu, expand the Logs/Server Logs submenu.
- Select the command that corresponds to the required entry selection criteria. You can load entries about events registered over the past hour, 24 hours, or all entries. The "Create Request" command is used to create a request and then to go to the Server Log panel to configure request settings (see p. 51).

The export of entries from the Security Server log is automatically initiated after the command is selected for the loading of entries about events registered over the past hour, 24 hours, or all entries. After entries are loaded, a notification appears in the system event panel that the log was received. To go to log entries, select the Log Received link in the notification.

Creating requests with arbitrary selection criteria

Requests with arbitrary entry selection criteria are created to subsequently configure settings and start the import of entries manually.

Requests for loading Security Server log entries are created in the Server Log panel.

To create a general request:

1. Click New in the request control panel.

A new request is created in the Server Log panel and a panel appears on the right to configure its settings.

2. Configure the settings of the new request (see p. 51) and click "Query the DB" at the bottom of request settings panel.

This initiates the import of entries from the log. After entries are loaded, a notification with a link to the new request appears in the system event panel that the log was received.

Creating requests for loading the Security Server log entries from files

The Security Server log entries can be stored in special format *.snsrv files. Entries from such files are imported to the Server Log panel by creating individual requests for each file.

The file to be loaded can be specified when the program starts in the on-premises mode (see p. **7**), or when the program is used in the Server Log panel.

To create a request to import entries from the file in the "Server Log" panel:

1. Click Open in the request control panel.

A dialog box appears.

2. Select the required file.

A new request where entries from the file will be imported is created in the Server Log panel.

Requests for log archives

To view entries from archived logs, load the files of the required archives to the program.



Attention!

To load the archives, the disk that will be used for the temporary files must have sufficient free space, (unarchiving is performed in the the user's temporary files folder). To load files of up to 80-100 MB, you need about 4 GB of free space. Working with files of 200-300 MB requires at least 10 GB.

After the archives are loaded, create requests for selecting the required entries. Requests are created in the Archives panel. The program supports the following methods for creating requests:

- Creating a request for selecting entries in an individual log in a loaded archive
- Creating requests for selecting alert log or stations log entries in loaded archives

Loading archive files

The Security Server creates log archives in special format files *.omax.

Archive files to be loaded can be specified when the program starts in the on-premises mode (see p. **7**), or when the program is used in the Archive panel.



Note.

The Control Center supports the loading of archive files created by the Secret Net Studio 7.0 Security Server and above.

To load archive files in the Archives panel:

1. Click Open in the request control panel.

A dialog box appears.

2. Select the required files.

New subsections will be created in the Archive panel, and their number and names correspond to selected archive files. Subsections contain hierarchical lists of computers and logs whose entries were received from archives. Key details of loaded archives appear in the information pane under the request control panel.

Creating a request to select entries from an individual log in a loaded archive

In the loaded archive, you can create requests for selecting entries from separate logs included in the archives hierarchical list. Such requests only relate to the selected log of the relevant computer and do not allow other entries stored in the archive to be loaded.

To create a request for selecting entries from a separate log:

- 1. In the Archive section of the request control panel, expand the subsection list with the name of the required archive.
- 2. Point the cursor at the log line and double-click it.

A new request showing details from the selected log is created in the Archives panel.

Creating a request to select alert log or stations log entries in loaded archives

In loaded archives, you can make a sampling from all entries of alert logs or stations logs stored in archives. The request for selecting entries from these logs is used to receive entries originated by different computers and can apply to several selected archives.

To create a request for selecting alert log or stations log entries:

- 1. In the request control panel, click New and select the required type of request in the menu that opens:
 - "Find in alert logs" creates a request for selecting entries from alert logs.
 - "Find in station logs" creates a request for selecting entries from stations logs.

A new request is created in the Archives panel, and a panel appears on the right to configure its settings.

2. Configure settings of the new request (see p. **51**) and click Find in Archives. This initiates importing entries from the selected archives.

Configuring request settings

To get required information in a log entry request, you can modify entry loading and filtration settings. Settings can be configured in a special settings panel.

To configure entry request settings:

 Enable the display of the request settings panel. To show or hide the panel, click "Query" in the information display configuration panel (on the right of the information pane).

Note.

The panel information display configuration panel is shown by default for a newly created request with arbitrary selection criteria.

An example of the contents of the alert log panel is shown in the figure below.

| REQUEST CONSTRUCTOR | New query | | | |
|------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------|-----------|
| Time period | Of all time | | | |
| | O Last hour | | | |
| | O Last 24 hours | | | |
| | Last 7 days | | | |
| | C Last 30 days | | | |
| | O Set interval: | 10/30/2017 03:00:31 PM 💌 | - 10/31/2017 03:00:3 | 31 PM 💌 |
| Alerts | Level | Acknowledgement | Event type | |
| | 🗕 🗹 High | ✓ Not acknowledged | 🔒 🗹 Failure audit | |
| | Elevated | Acknowledged | Errors | |
| | ● 🖌 Low | | | |
| Last | All events | | | |
| events count | O Specify how r | many: 100 | | |
| Security server data base | WIN-AD.sns.com | n 🔻 | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Switch to advanced mode | | | 📟 Query the | DB Cancel |

2. Enter the name of the request and configure entry selection settings in the relevant fields. The content of configured settings depends on the source of information, log types and the current settings panel mode.

For a request created with arbitrary selection criteria, the panel by default is shown in simplified mode where you can specify key entry selection criteria (see the figure above). If you need detailed settings, enable the advanced settings mode by clicking the "Switch to advanced mode" link at the bottom of the panel.

An example of the contents of the panel in advanced mode is shown in the figure below.

| REQUEST CONSTRU | CTOR | New query | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------|-------|----------------------|---|--------|---|---|
| Request rules | | | | | | | | |
| { Rule | | Operator | | Condition | | | | |
| Туре | • | Equal | • | Failure audit; Error | • | AND OR | • | × |
| Threat level | • | Equal | • | High; Elevated; Low | • | | • | × |
| Acknowledgement | ✓ | Not acknowledg Acknowledged | ed | | | | | |
| Last | ۲ | All events | | | | | | |
| events count | | Specify how man | ny: 1 | 00 | | | | |
| Security server data base | W | /IN-AD.sns.com | | × | | | | |

|--|

- **3.** To apply new settings, click the respective button at the bottom of the settings panel:
 - To make a new sampling of log entries from the Security Server database, click "Query the DB".
 - To make a sampling of entries from those already loaded, click "Search in results".

Controlling requests

The panes "Alert logs", "Station logs", and "Server logs" provide the following request control features (other than for requests with predefined selection criteria and requests for import from files):

- Enabling and disabling the automatic request loading mode;
- Saving request settings to a file;
- Loading request settings from a file;
- Reloading entries from the security server DB.

Use buttons in the request control panel to perform request control operations. Controls are listed in the table below:

| Button | Description |
|--------|--|
| * | Enables and disables the automatic request loading mode in the next sessions of working with the program. When the mode is enabled, the button is highlighted. |

| Button | Description |
|--------|---|
| | Saves the selected request to a file. Saving is performed to a *.snreq file. |
| С | Starts a new loading of entries based on current request settings. |
| Open | Calls up the "Open File" dialog box to load the request. To load a request that was previously saved, specify "Request (*.snreq)" as the file type. When loaded, the request is added to the Requests section of the relevant panel of logs (to the panel of the log for which the request was created) |

To close the request, click "Close" to the right of its name.

Entry viewing options

Display event details modes

Loaded information about events is displayed in the information pane of the respective panel (see p. 44). There are different displaying details modes for analysis of log contents (other than for the Security Server log). Apart from displaying information as a usual list of entries, the program supports viewing information as a list of threat events.

Events mode

The Events mode displays the list of loaded log entries in a table format. This is the main and most feature-rich mode for viewing and working with entries. An example of the contents of the window with the entry table is shown in the figure below.

| | | | | | WIN-A | D.sns.com : Secre | et Net Studio - | Control cente | f | | _ |
|---|------------------------|------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------|---------------|--------------------|------------------------------|-----|
| 2 000 Q | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 🛃 New 🖿 Open | | EVENTS | 5 THREATS | | | | | | | | |
| STANDARD REQUESTS | | 🕸 Date | | Event | Category | Source | 🖵 Comp | Domain | 💄 User | 🕈 Level 🗸 | |
| 🛐 Of all time | | 10/31/2 | 2017 10:46:53 AM | Licence expi | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| Last hour | | 0 10/31/2 | 2017 10:42:33 AM | Licence expl | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| 🛐 Last day | | 6 10/31/2 | 2017 10:41:30 AM | Computer e | System | NetworkPro | WIN-AD.sns.c | | | • Low | |
| 🛃 Last 7 days | × | <u>a</u> 10/31/2 | 2017 10:38:29 AM | Logon failed. | Logon/logoff | NetworkPro | WIN-AD.sns.c | | | • Low | |
| All high level | | 10/31/2 | 2017 10-37-22 AM | Licence expi | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| All elevated level | | 10/31/2 | 2 Acknowledge alerts | Changes de | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| All low level | | ☐ 10/31/3 | 2 Copy | Device rem | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | 10/31/2 | 2 Print | Device rem | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| QUERIES | | ☐ 10/31/2 | 2 🖬 Export | New device | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| EXTERNAL LOGS | | 10/31/2 | 2 Event colors | New device | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | 10/31/2 | 2 🍕 Search the knowledge base | Licence expl | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| | | ☐ 10/31/3 | Add threat search rule | Authenticati | Authentication | AuthServer | WIN-AD.sns.c | | | • Low | |
| | | 10/31/2 | 2 Details | Logon failed. | Logon/logoff | NetworkPro | WIN-AD.sns.c | | | • Low | |
| | | 0 10/31/2 | 2017 10:16:23 AM | Licence expl | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| | | ☐ 10/31/3 | 2017 10:15:54 AM | Changes de | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| | | 10/31/2 | 2017 10:15:54 AM | Device rem | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | ☐ 10/31/3 | 2017 10:15:54 AM | Device rem | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | 10/31/2 | 2017 10:15:54 AM | New device | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | ☐ 10/31/3 | 2017 10:15:54 AM | New device | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | • Low | |
| | | 局 10/31/3 | 2017 10:11:36 AM | Logon failed. | Logon/logoff | NetworkPro | WIN-AD.sns.c | | | • Low | |
| | | 0 10/31/3 | 2017 10:10:00 AM | Licence expl | Common events | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| | | ☐ 10/31/3 | 2017 10:09:35 AM | Changes de | Configuration control | LocalProtec | WIN-AD.sns.c | NT AUTHO | SYSTEM | Elevated | |
| | _ | | | | | | | | | | 5/3 |
| ype Date and time 2 10/31/2017 11:04:25 AM | P Event Alert los | request. | | | | | | | Descrip Log rec | ation aived. | |
| 2 10/31/2017 11:00:26 AM | A Configu | ation request. | | | | | | | Configu | aration is loaded. | |
| 2 10/31/2017 10:57:34 AN | A Configu A Configu | ation request. | n wat | | | | | | Configu | aration is loaded. | |
| 10/31/2017 10:57:24 AM | A Saving C | M configuratio | 20. | | | | | | Configu | aration is saved. | |
| a 10/31/2017 10:56:53 AM | 4 Configu | ation request. | | | | | | | Configu | antion is loaded. | |

You can use the context menu of entries to perform necessary actions such as copying, printing, saving, etc.

There is an entry counter on the right of the line under the table: <number of the selected entry>/<quantity of selected entries>/<total quantity of loaded entries>.

Threats mode

The Threats mode displays a list of threat events generated through analysis of loaded entries. Threat events are compressed or clarifying information about registered events (for example, a threat with indications of password guessing). The mode is designed to provide the administrator or auditor with information most relevant for them from the logs. An example of the contents of the window with the generated list is shown in the figure below.



Information is displayed in a table format where lists of registered events related to threat events can be expanded. When viewing table blocks with log entries, you can use the same display configuration options as in the main table with log entries.

Commands of the context menu of threat events (this menu is shown in the figure) can be used to send the list for print or enable/disable displaying the event description pane.

There is a threat counter on the right of the line under the table: <number of the selected event>/<total number of events>.

To configure entry analysis and threat events search:

- 1. Load log entries.
- **2.** Click the button at the top of the pane to enable the Threats mode of the information pane.
- **3.** Click Request in the information display configuration panel (to the right of the information pane).

The threat search settings panel appears as in the figure below.

THREAT SEARCH

| Search rules | |
|---------------------------------------|----------|
| ✓ 🔒 Password brutforce | |
| ✓ ① Device connection | |
| ✓ ● Functional check error | |
| ✓ ● Product working error | |
| ✓ ● Integrity control failed | |
| ✓ ● Hardware control failed | |
| 🗹 🔒 MSSQL: Password brutforce | |
| ✓ ① MSSQL: Performance Issues | |
| ✓ 🌗 MSSQL: Failed backup | |
| ✓ ● Failed to create a restore point | |
| 🗹 🔒 Suspicious Activity of DNS-server | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | Q Search |

Rules for searching threat events in loaded log entries appear in the list. By default, the list contains preset search rules of a general nature. These search rules cannot be removed from the list.

- **4.** Generate a list of threat events search rules. To work with rules, use the buttons under the list. The following features are available for generating a list:
 - Adding and deleting a threat search rule (use buttons "Add Threat Rule" and "Delete Threat Rule" under the list of rules on the right)
 - Loading a list or rules saved to a file (use the button "Import Threat Rule" under the list of rules on the left).
- 5. Configure threat events search settings. A wizard is used to configure settings for each rule individually. When a new rule is created, the wizard starts automatically. To configure the settings of an existing rule, select it from the list and click "Edit Threat Rule" under the list of rules on the right.

Dialog boxes of the rule settings wizard:

• The "Editor of expression" dialog box, which is shown in the figure below.

| ۲ | | | Edi | t rul | e: Password brutforce | | _ 🗆 X |
|--------|----------------|------|---------------|-------|-----------------------|-------------------------|---------------|
| Edit t | hreat searc | :h ı | rule | | | | |
| Rules: | | | | | | | |
| < C | Rule | | Operator | | Condition | | |
| | Event | ۳ | Equal | • | 529 | | AND OR 🕂 💙 |
| | Туре | ٠ | Equal | ٠ | Failure audit | • | AND OR 🕂 🔻 > |
| | Parameter: Us | • | Constant valu | • | | $\overline{\mathbf{v}}$ | AND OR 🕂 🔻 > |
| | Event | • | Equal | • | 4625 | • | AND OR 🕂 🔻 > |
| | Туре | • | Equal | • | Failure audit | • | AND OR (+) -> |
| | Parameter: Us | • | Constant valu | • | | v | AND OR 🕂 🔻 > |
| | Parameter: Ret | ۳ | Equal | • | 0xC000006A | • | ⊕•> |
| 4 | | | | | | | Þ |
| Defa | ult | | | | < Back | Ne | ext > Cancel |

Draw up a list of conditions that entries should meet to qualify as this threat event. Conditions determine the contents of fields in event entries or settings in event descriptions. To control the contents of the field or an option on the list, there should be an expression where valid values are set. For example, the Audit Failure value can be set to the Type field so that event entries of only this type are taken into account during analysis.

Several expressions are logically bound together. Logical connectives AND and OR can be used, and expressions can be grouped. For example, you can set a condition that the preset values for fields Type, Source and Computer must match, so that entries where at least one value in the specified fields does not match the preset value are not taken into account during analysis.

To create a list of conditions, use the following controls:

- Expression grouping features (on the left) to bring into a group, select the required expressions and click the button with a curly bracket under the list. To undo the grouping, click the cross button in the grouping area;
- Features for determining conditions for the contents of a field or setting (in the center) — to set a condition, specify the name of the required field or setting and its value in drop-down lists;
- Features for selecting a logical operation with the subsequent expression or group (buttons AND/OR) — to enable a logical connective, click its button (the active logical operator is highlighted in green);
- Features for adding and deleting expressions (on the right).

After creating the list of conditions, click "Next" to move to the next dialog box.

• "Additional parameters" dialog box.

Check the logs whose entries will be taken into account during analysis for matching the given threat event.

In the "Amount of events repeats" group of fields, specify settings for tracking several entries that meet the preset conditions. If repetitive events, which occurred over a certain period (for example, to track password guessing attempts), need to be tracked, specify the required number of repetitions and the interval in seconds.

If necessary, you can enable the compression mode into one threat when analysis reveals several such events during one session of the user that the entries are related to. This helps reduce the list of threat events. This mode should be used if the sequence of threat events within one session is not important. To enable the compression mode, select "fix only one alarm per user session. In the fields of groups Rule Name and Description, specify the icon for the threat, its name and additional information.

Note.

If the search rule you are editing is on the list of standard rules, you can return to the configuration of default settings supported for this rule. To do this, click By Default at the bottom of the dialog box and confirm your operation when prompted.

To apply settings you made, click "Ready" in the rule settings wizard dialog box.

- **6.** Once threat event search rules is configured, if necessary, save the list of rules to a file for future use. To do this, click "Export Threat Rule" under the list of rules on the left.
- **7.** On the list, select the threat events to be searched and click "Search" at the bottom of the threat search settings panel.

After loaded entries are analyzed, a list appears with resulting threat events.

Note.

Threat search rules can be created directly when using log entries. To do this, select the required entries, call up the context menu and click the "Add Threat Rule" command. Then configure the rule settings in the dialog boxes of the configuration wizard (in a similar manner to the procedure described above).

Acknowledgment alerts in the log

To acknowledge a request with alert log entries:

- 1. Load alert log entries from the Security Server DB (seep. 46).
- **2.** In the list of log entries, select the entries about events that must be acknowledged.
- Right-click one of the selected entries and click the "Acknowledge Alerts" command.

A dialog box appears.

4. Enter your text comment describing the reasons and action taken regarding events that occurred, and click "Acknowledge".

A notification appears in the system event panel saying that alerts were acknowledged, and the acknowledgment feature will be assigned to selected entries.

Sorting entries

Displayed entries are sorted by values contained in specific columns of the entries table. Standard features are used to sort the entries table. To sort by the column's contents, hover the cursor over its heading and click it.

Searching entries

The program can be used to search entries matching your criteria or containing a text string. The search is only performed on entries displayed in the current request.

To search entries based on your criteria:

- 1. Load log entries and configure request (see p. 46).
- 2. Click "Search in Results".

All entries matching your criteria in the request are highlighted in the table of entries.

Color coding of entries

To visualize information, color coding is provided for the displayed entries (other than the Security Server log).

When the color coding mode is enabled, entries are highlighted with preset colors. To learn how to configure color coding settings, see onp. **68**.

To enable the color coding mode:

- 1. Load log entries (see p. 46).
- **2.** Right-click any entry and click the "Event Color" command.

Entries will be highlighted in colors corresponding to the characteristics of the event.

The color coding mode can be disabled in a similar manner.

Obtaining information about events from external knowledge bases

If additional information about a registered event needs to be received, the program supports requesting information from external knowledge bases available on the Internet. External knowledge bases can contain useful information about reasons behind specific events and recommendations for users. The provision of information in external knowledge bases is regulated by the owners of such information resources.

Information related to Security Server log entries cannot be received from external knowledge bases.

To download information, the computer should have Internet access.

To generate an information request to the external knowledge base:

- 1. Load log entries (see p. 46).
- Right-click the entry for the event that you need information about, point to the "Search in Knowledge Bases" submenu and click the required command:
 - Microsoft Knowledge Base is used to search the knowledge base at http://www.microsoft.com.
 - Event ID Database is used to search the knowledge base at http://www.eventid.net.

A browser window appears where a page with knowledge base search results opens.

Printing entries

The program supports sending current request for printing. Settings can be configured in a special settings panel.

The Security Server log cannot be printed.

To print entries:

- 1. Load log entries (see p. 46).
- **2.** To print part of loaded entries, select the required entries in the table.
- **3.** Click "Print Log" in the information display configuration panel (to the right of the information pane).

The print settings panel appears as in the figure below.

| Records | All records | | | | | |
|---------------------|----------------|--------------|------|-----------|-------|--|
| | Selected | | | | | |
| | O Range: from | 0 | to | 0 | lines | |
| | | | | | | |
| etailed information | Add detailed i | nformation a | bout | events to | print | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

4. Configure print settings.

"Records" group of fields

Determines entries to be printed:

- "All records" will export the entries displayed in accordance with the current filtering settings;
- "Selected" will only print the entries selected in the table;
- "Range" allows you specify the range of entries to print in their sequence order in the table (according to current sorting settings). Range boundaries are specified in the fields "from" and "to". The first and last entries in the range will also be printed.

"Detailed information" check box

If this check box is selected, the contents of fields with a detailed description of events will be printed.

5. To open the preview page, click "Preview...". After the preview, start the process by clicking the Print button on the toolbar of the preview window.

Note.

Printing can start without opening the preview window. To do this, click Print at the bottom of the print settings panel.

A Windows dialog box appears where the printer can be selected, and general printer settings can be configured.

6. Select the printer and click OK.

Exporting entries

The program supports saving (exporting) entries in the current request to files. Settings can be configured in a special settings panel.

Export is performed to special file formats:

- "Alert logs" entries are exported to *.snua files
- "Station log" entries are exported to *.snlog files
- "Server log" entries are exported to *.snsrv files

To export entries:

- 1. Load log entries (see p. 46).
- 2. To export part of loaded entries, select the required entries in the table.
- **3.** Click "Log Export" in the information display configuration panel (to the right of the information panel).

The export settings panel appears as in the figure below.

| | e. (osers jama / bocaments / of an ametshaa | |
|---------|---|--|
| Records | All records | |
| | Selected | |
| | ○ Range: from 0 to 0 | |
| | O Whole log | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | O Whole log | |

- **4.** To specify the file for saving, click the button in the right part of the "Path to File" field and select the location in the Windows OS file saving dialog box.
- 5. Configure export settings.

"Records" group of fields

Determines the entries to be exported:

- "All records" will export the entries displayed in accordance with the current filtering settings;
- "Selected" will export only the entries selected in the table;
- "Range" allows you specify the range of entries to export in their sequence order in the table (according to current sorting settings). Range boundaries are specified in the fields "from" and "to." The first and last entries in the range will also be exported;
- "Whole log" allows you to export all entries loaded in the request (including those that do not match current filtering settings)
- 6. Click Export.

Archiving centralized logs at the administrators command

Centralized logs stored in the Security Server DB are archived regularly in accordance with the Security Server's current settings (see p. **26**).

You can start unscheduled archiving of centralized logs. The archiving command applies to the Security Server that the program established a connection to.

To start log archiving:

 On the diagram or in the object list, right-click the Security Server, point to the "Archiving" submenu, and click the "Create the log archive" command.

A dialog box appears where archiving settings can be configured.

2. Configure the archiving settings is shown below. Then click Archive.

"Events until" field

These fields determine the time interval. Entries registered until this time will be placed in the archive

"Logs" field

This field determines the types of logs whose entries should be archived

"Comment" field

Enter a brief description of the newly created archive in this field

Chapter 6 Configuring and managing centralized software deployment

The Control Center supports centralized deployment of the Client on computers. During deployment, the System automatically performs actions specified for installing or removing the Client, its components or updates on computers. The start of software installation or removal on computers is controlled by the Security Server on behalf of a special service.



Attention!

For centralized software deployment, computers should meet hardware and software requirements for the Client installation (see document [2]). Among other things, you should allow the following ports to be used for access to shared resources: 137, 138, 139, 445. By default, these ports are closed by the firewall if there are no shared folders on the computer.

Settings and control features panel

Centralized software deployment is configured and controlled in the Deployment panel. The panel is shown in the figure below.



The following tabs in the panel are used for working with deployment settings and control features:

- "Deployment" displays the management structure (on the left) and the list of computers with details of existing software and status (on the right).
- "Tasks" displays deployment tasks (on the left) and task-related computers (on the right).
- "Licensing" is designed for viewing details of and managing registered licenses on the Security Server.
- "Repository" is designed for generating a list of centrally installed software.

To switch between the tabs, use the respective buttons at the top of the panel.

Managing security mechanism licenses

Secret Net Studio system uses license limitations for subsystems that apply security mechanisms. Licenses are delivered as files with data for registration in Secret Net Studio system.

When creating software deployment tasks (see p. **64**), specify the relevant licenses. Licenses can be selected from the list of those registered in the System or added separately for the deployment task.

To manage registered licenses, use the Licensing tab in the Deployment panel. The tab contains details of licenses registered in the security domain of the connection server (the Security Server that the program is connected to):

- Purpose of licenses (subsystems these apply to)
- Total number and current number of inactive (remaining) licenses
- Expiration of license features
- License types
- Details of the licensee

To register licenses:

1. Go to the Licensing tab in the Deployment panel.

| ۲ | | | | | | | | WIN-AD.sns.com | : Secret N | et Studio - Control center | | | |
|----|--------------------|---------------------------------|-----------|----------|-----------|----------------|--------------------|------------------|------------|----------------------------|------------------------|------------|--------------------|
| (| | \odot | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | $\hat{\mathbf{D}}$ | DEPLOYMENT TASKS | LICENSING | REPOSITO | RY | | | | | | | | |
| | <u></u> | Add/Replace | | | C Replace | Delete | | | | | | | |
| | Q, | LICENSES | | | UCEN | 585 | | | | | | | |
| | π <u>ε</u> | Licenses | | | 💡 License | Total licenses | Remaining licenses | License end date | Demo | Technical support end date | Technical support type | Company | Company identifier |
| 1 | 4 | | | | 8703 | 200 | 199 | 12/31/2018 | Demo | | No technical support | Демонстрац | 1 |
| | - | Base protection 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| E | G | Discretionary Access Control 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Data Wipe 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | | Device Control 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ¢. | | Application Execution Control 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ľ | - | Mandatory Access Control 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ſ | רל | Printer Control 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | - | Firewall 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Intrusion Detection 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | AntiMalware 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 💡 Antivirus 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 礅 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| F | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

- Click Add/Replace above the list of licensable subsystems in the Licenses section. A dialog box appears.
- 3. Select the required file with licenses.

To replace registered licenses:

- **1.** Go to the Licensing tab in the Deployment panel.
- **2.** In the Licenses list (on the left), select the subsystem for which licenses should be replaced.
- **3.** In the list of available licenses for the subsystem (on the right), select the license to be replaced.
- 4. Click Replace above the list of licenses.

A dialog box appears as shown in the figure below.

| License r | replace X |
|--|------------------------|
| License replace | |
| Specify the license which will replace the | e previously selected: |
| License ID License expiration date License type Left/all licenses Technical support type Technical support end date | |
| Company Company ID | |
| | Replace Cancel |

5. Select the license in the drop-down list and click Replace.

To delete registered licenses:

- 1. Go to the Licensing tab in the Deployment panel.
- **2.** In the Licenses list (on the left), select the subsystem for which licenses should be deleted.
- **3.** In the list of available licenses for the subsystem (on the right), select the license to be deleted.

Note.

A license that is used on at least one protected computer cannot be deleted.

- **4.** Click Delete above the list of licenses.
 - A dialog box appears.
- 5. Click Yes.

Configuring deployment

Creating a list of centrally installed software

By default, the list of centrally installed software is empty. You need to add a distribution kit to the list to configure the deployment task. A distribution kit can be added using the Secret Net Studio system setup disk or a special patch.

To add a distribution kit to the list of centrally installed software:

1. On the Deployment tab, click Repository.

| 0 | DEPLOYMENT TAS | KS LICENSING | REPOSITOR | (| | | | | | |
|----------|---------------------|--------------|------------|-----------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 💽 Add 🔟 Delete | | | | | | | | | |
| දා | ACTIONS | | | | | | | | | |
| غىت | Name 🔻 | Туре | Version | Date | Description | | | | | |
| E | 🔁 Secret Net Studio | Product | 8.3.1406.0 | 9/13/2017 11:15:35 PM | Secret Net Studio | | | | | |
| Į. | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ţ | | | | | | | | | | |
| 墩 | | | | | | | | | | |

- **2.** Right-click anywhere in the list and select Add. The Add dialog box appears.
- **3.** In the Source Path field, enter or select the path to the folder containing the distribution kit to create the installation package. For example, if you want to use the Secret Net Studio system setup disk to create the installation package, select the installation disk's root folder.

After analyzing the contents of the specified folder, the remaining fields in the Add dialog box will be automatically filled.

4. Click Add and wait until the installation package is created (it may take a while for the files to be sent to the Security Server).

When the process is complete, a new item appears in the list with information about the installation package.

Creating deployment tasks

You may add deployment tasks after creating the list of centrally installed software. Tasks define a list of computers where installation will be performed automatically.

To add a deployment task:

1. On the Deployment tab, click Deployment.

| 0 | DEPLOYMENT TASKS | TASKS LICENSING REPOSITORY | | | | | | |
|--------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|--------------|---------------------|-----------|---------------------|
| * | HAII SNS Without S | NS | 🕽 Install 🔘 Upda | ite <u> </u> Remove | Install | TRemove all patches | C Refresh | Q |
| ر Q | | | DISTRIBUTIO | NN KIT | | PATCH | VIEW | |
| Ť | Q | C | omputers | De | epartment | Protection level | Version | Update is available |
| | 🛛 🗹 🖧 Writers | 9 | W12-TS2.testsn7.r | u t | testsn7.ru/w | | 8.3.1 | |
| 2 | 🗆 🗹 😓 DevAnalis | | ws81-h3.testsn7.m | u t | testsn7.ru/w | | | 8.3.1407.0 |
| C | ⊕ _ & TestOU_2 ⊕ _ & TestOU_6 | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Ľ¥) ~~ | | 4 | | | | | | Þ |
| \$ \$ | | | | | | | | 2/2 🔿 |
| | | | | | | | | • |

2. Select computers the task should be created for. If necessary, use the program mechanisms to filter, sort or view information about computers.

You may filter computers by installed client software ("DPS" or "Without DPS" buttons) or by using the Domain filter (select containers to highlight their child units), search bar (located above the AD container list and the computer list) or by using column headers.

You may change which columns are displayed on the panel and their order. To configure the columns, right-click on the header row, select Column Settings.

You may view additional information about computers on the Detailed Panel by clicking on upward arrow located in the bottom right corner of the Deployment Tab.

Note.

The Control Center displays detailed information about the Client version and installed subsystems of the computers subordinate to the Security Server the Control Center is connected to. For other computers the Control Center only displays which of them contains the Client. Information about installed subsystems is unavailable in this case.

3. Right-click on one of the selected computers and click the respective command. For example, to install the Client, click Install Software.

The task settings panel appears on the right of the window as in the figure below.

| Distribution kit i | nstallation |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Task name | 1 Software installation |
| Distribution kit | 8.3.1406.0 💌 |
| Subordination to server | WIN-AD.sns.com |
| Installation folder | Install to default folder Install to chosen folder: C:\Program Files\Secret Net Studio\Client |
| Restart timeout after installation | Not enforced Set time (min.): 15 |
| Parameters | |
| Security subsystems | Add licenses from file Browse |
| | Base protection 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем т +1 |
| | Discretionary Access Control 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем т +1 |
| | Data Wipe 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем т +1 |
| | Device Control 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем т +1 |
| | Application Execution Control 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем 🔻 +1 |
| | Mandatory Access Control 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем 🔻 +1 |
| | Printer Control 200inst. (left 200), to 12/31/2018 (demo), Дем 🔻 +1 |

- 4. To configure the Client installation task, specify the following settings:
 - version of the software to be installed;
 - software installation folder;
 - component licenses;
 - restart timeout after installation;
 - local administrator account data (a member of the Local Administrators group on selected computers).

Click Install at the bottom of the panel.

5. After creating a task, on the Deployment panel, click the Tasks tab to check if the element was added.

Controlling task execution

Created tasks are applied on computers based on respective settings. The administrator can use the Tasks list to control software deployment.

To control task execution:

1. Go to the Tasks tab in the Deployment panel.

| DEPLOYMENT TASKS | LICENSING RE | POSITORY | | | | |
|--|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------|-------|
| Cancel <u></u> Delete | | Cancel | | | | |
| 1 Software installation |) Completed 🗸 | Computers | Execution start 8/23/2016 1 | Execution finished 8/23/2016 10:5 | Status 🗸 Installed | |
| Run time: 8/23/2016 10:40: End time: 8/23/2016 10:50: | 27 AM 06 AM <u>details</u> • | | | | | |
| | | Details WIN7.KOD.UY | | | | 1/1 💌 |
| | | State: 🗸 Ins Description: Installa | talled tion completed. | | | |

The time and status of process execution appear for tasks and computers.

2. To display additional details about a task, click "details" at the bottom of the information section. To view detailed information about the computer, enable the display of the information area using the button located on the right side of the line under the list of computers.

Note.

If the process does not start for a long time, check that the computer meets hardware and software requirements for installation of the Client (see document [2]). For example, a task can only be executed if the following ports, used to access shared resources, are enabled on the computer: 137, 138, 139, 445. By default, these ports are closed by the firewall if there are no shared folders on the computer. To permit the use of the above ports, modify firewall settings or create a folder and make it shared.

- 3. When a task needs to be delayed:
 - To interrupt execution on all computers, to which the task relates, select it and click Cancel above the tasks list in the Task section;
 - To interrupt execution on individual computers, select them in the list and click Cancel above the list of computers in the Computer section.
- **4.** When the task is done, it can be removed from the list. To do this, select it and click Delete above the tasks list in the Task section.

Appendix

Networking settings

| Description | Range |
|--|-------------|
| Timeout settings group | |
| DNS resolutions | 30-1000 sec |
| Server connections | 30-1000 sec |
| Sending a request to server | 30-1000 sec |
| Completion of transfer of the next block Determines the interval during which block delivery confirmation or failed block delivery message is expected. The setting is designed for appropriate tracking of the "time to live" of operations associated with data streaming over the network. Depends on the network capacity: the higher the capacity, the shorter the interval can be. If the setting falls below an acceptable level, this can compromise the operation of the transport subsystem. This setting cannot accelerate the operation of the transport subsystem | 30-1000 sec |
| Workstation events Determines the interval after which the server sends a watchdog request. This setting is designed for connection control. Control is based on the principle of periodically sending a service request and getting a response to it. The connection is treated as operational if the appropriate response is received. If an incorrect response is received, or the response timeout expires (see the next setting), the connection is treated as disabled. Increasing the value of this setting undermines the efficiency of getting accurate information about the state of the connection | 30-1000 sec |
| For the server getting a response to the watchdog request Determines the maximum time for waiting for a response to the sent watchdog request. This setting is designed for controlling an established connection | 30–1000 sec |
| Block size settings group | |
| For receiving data from the server Determines the size of the cache of the transport subsystem for receiving a data stream. This setting is designed for optimizing data streaming over the network. Its value depends on the network capacity: the higher the capacity, the larger the cache can be | 48-10240 KB |
| For transferring data to the server This setting is designed for optimizing data streaming over the network. Its value depends on the network capacity: the higher the capacity, the larger the block size can be | 48-10240 KB |

Color coding settings for log entries

When configuring program settings (see p. **10**), you can create a list of rules to define the color of text and the background of displayed log entries depending on preset conditions. The list of rules appears in the "Event colors" group of the program settings dialog box.

_ 🗆 🗙 Control center settings Network settings Event colors System events Temporary files Text color Background co Source Category Events Event colors LocalProtectio Privileges LocalProtectio 1 Common e Sound alerts LocalProtectio 2 Logon/log Controlled object settings request LocalProtectio 3 Mandatory Additional protection components LocalProtectio 4 Printer con LocalProtectio 7 Application LocalProtectio 8 Group poli LocalProtectio 9 Device con LocalProtectio 10 Security log LocalProtectio 11 Replication LocalProtectio 12 Integrity cc Ø 🕀 🗊 0 J G Save Close

The list of rules is shown in the figure below.

To work with the list of rules, use the buttons below the list:

| Button | Description |
|------------------------|---|
| Take default values | Returns the original list of rules used by default |
| Import | Loads a list of rules saved to a file |
| Export | Saves the current list of rules to a file |
| Edit | Opens a dialog box where you can configure settings of the selected rule (see below) |
| Add | Adds a new rule to the list. New rule settings are configured in the dialog box (see below) |
| Remove | Removes the selected element from the list |

Configuring filtration rule settings

The filtration rule settings dialog box is shown in the figure below.

| | Event colors | × | | | | |
|-------------------|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| Event colors | | | | | | |
| Events | | | | | | |
| Source: | LocalProtection 🔻 | | | | | |
| Category: | 13 🔻 | | | | | |
| Events: | 1299 🔻 | | | | | |
| | If the required category is not in the list, enter its code on the line If the list does not contain the required event, enter its code with a semicolon as a separator: 1045; 2045. Leave the field empty to define any category or event. | 2. | | | | |
| Event colors | | | | | | |
| Background color: | • | | | | | |
| Text color: | * | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | Apply Cancel |] | | | | |

To configure rule settings:

1. Configure event analysis settings in the "Events" group of fields:

Source

Contains the component or subsystem name specified at event registration as a source. Select the required source

Category

Contains a numeric code of the event category. Select the code of the required category from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of categories available for selection depends on the specified source

Events

Contains numeric identifiers of events. Select identifiers of the required events from the drop-down list or enter the value manually. The list of events available for selection depends on the category specified. Identifiers are delimited by ";"

Note.

Details of events can be obtained when viewing the log entries on the General tab (see p. 44). Sources, categories, and identifiers of events appear, respectively, in the following tab fields: "Source," "Category" and "Events."

- **2.** In the "Event Colors" group of fields, configure color coding settings for the background and text of lines in the table of entries. To call up color editing tools, click the button on the right of the field.
- 3. Click Apply.

Recovering logs from archives

Centralized log entries, placed into an archive from the Security Server DB, can be recovered in the server database with the help of the Control Center. Recovered entries can be loaded for view in the same way as for other entries stored in the DB.



Attention!

Archives may only be recovered by a user with the privilege for "Archiving/recovering logs."

To recover entries from an archive:

- 1. On the diagram or in the objects list, right-click the Security Server, point to the Archiving submenu and click the "Recover the log archive" command.
 - A dialog box appears with a list of recoverable archives.
- **2.** Select the required archive, logs (for an archive that contains several logs) and click Recover.

Security Server DBMS maintenance recommendations

Rebuilding indexes

To speed up the processing of requests to the Security Server database, the system automatically creates indexes, special objects, in the DBMS. The indexes include information for searching across the data arrays in the database.

The content of the database changes during the operation of the Security Server. The largest changes in the database are usually associated with processing centralized logs. In particular, part of the allocated memory is released in the database after archiving the logs. Over time, these changes may eventually lead to data fragmentation which, in turn, will affect server performance.

To maintain a normal database operation, we recommend regularly running the procedure for rebuilding indexes in the DBMS server (on average, once a week). The procedure for rebuilding indexes does not require stopping the server; however, for optimal performance, we recommend running the command at times of minimum load.

To rebuild the index, you can use batch files provided on the setup disk of Secret Net Studio distribution kit. Before using the files, follow these steps:

- 1. On the DBMS server, create a folder on the local disk and copy the contents of \Tools\SecurityCode\ClearMSSQL\ to it from the setup disk.
- Open for editing the copied *.cmd files and specify the database administrator password provided during the setup of the DBMS server. The password must be specified instead of `manager' substring.

Next, run the 'rebuild.cmd' file at a time of minimum load for the DBMS server. You can use the Windows Task Scheduler to run the file at a specific time.

Note.

You can configure the periodical rebuilding of indexes by using standard DBMS server control tools. To do this, create a task for the server to perform the procedure at specific times. An example of a command sequence for this task is provided in \Tools\SecurityCode\ClearMSSQL\runjob.sql. You can build a task based on a commands sequence in 'runjob.sql' file by using 'runjob.cmd' file.

Monitoring the database size

If the Security Server database is hosted in a freeware version DBMS (for example, MS SQL Server 2012 Express), the database size cannot exceed the internal DBMS limit. Depending on the version, the limit may be set to 4 or 10GB.

The Security Server monitors the size of the database. When the database reaches a specific size (by default, 80% of the limit), the server object in the operating control program will be displayed with a special icon signaling that the database is full (see p. **32**). In addition, a respective warning will be displayed in the general server settings.

When there is a risk of database overflow, you need to urgently reduce its size. To do this, you can perform emergency archiving of centralized logs by running an administrator command (see p. **60**).

Cleaning up the database if it overflows

If the Security Server database overflows, the database will be locked and the server becomes inoperable. To avoid this, monitor the size of the database (see above) and regularly perform actions to maintain an acceptable database size. In particular, you need to properly configure the automatic archiving of centralized logs (see p. **26**).

If the database has overflowed, clean up the database to restore the server.



Attention!

Cleaning the database will result in the loss of all information stored in it, including the contents of logs received for centralized storage.

To clean up the database:

- 1. On the Security Server, stop IIS services (WWW Publishing Service) and Secret Net Studio Security Server (server service).
- If the DBMS server doesn't have a folder with batch files to rebuild the indexes, create such a folder on the local disk and prepare files (see actions 1 2 in the section on configuring the rebuilding of indexes).
- **3.** Run 'clear.cmd' file. Once this file is successfully processed, run the procedure for rebuilding the indexes by using the 'rebuild.cmd' file.
- **4.** Restart the Security Server.
Generating and installing the Security Server certificate

This procedure is run on the Security Server computer.

To generate and install the Security Server certificate:

- **1.** Perform the action in accordance with the version of the installed operating system:
 - On a Windows Server 2012 computer, load the Start screen and select the Certificates element.
 - on a computer with other OS, click the Start button and select theCertificates command in the program menu.

A configuration dialog box appears as in the figure below.

| Operational management. Server certificate. | x |
|--|---|
| Certificate generation and installation Service | |
| Certificate properties | |
| To generate new HTTPS certificate enter following information: | |
| | |
| Organization (O): | |
| Common Name (CN): WIN-AD | |
| Organizational Unit (OU): | |
| | |
| Validity period: | |
| from 10/30/2017 • to 10/30/2018 • | |
| Installation | |
| Select where to save new Security Server certificate: | |
| Install certificate to IIS | |
| Install certificate to LDS | |
| C Save to file: | |
| | |
| · | |
| OK Cancel Apply | |

2. In the "Certificate Properties" group of fields, specify the required values.

Note.

"Organization" and "Organization Unit" are optional fields.

3. In the "Installation" group of fields, specify the locations of the certificate and click Apply.

If the IIS has a previously installed certificate, the system will display a request to continue writing the new certificate.

4. When prompted, click Yes.

The following dialog box appears as in the figure below.

| Session opening |
|--|
| Enter username and password of security administrator: |
| Username: |
| Use current session credentials |
| OK Cancel |

5. Specify the account data of the user with the right to write to the storage of centralized control objects and click OK.

Comments.

If the current user has rights to write, select the "Use current session credentials" check box. If such rights are not granted, enter the details of the respective account. By default, rights to write to the storage are available to users that are members of the group of security domain administrators.

After the new certificate is installed, a message appears.

Configuring a secure connection to directory services

Secret Net Studio supports enforced security of access to the storage of centralized control objects of Secret Net Studio. In this mode, network calls to AD LDS services made by components of Secret Net Studio are carried out over Secure Socket Layer/Transport Layer Security (SSL/TLS) protocols. These protocols involve authentication of the computer on which the directory service (Security Server) is deployed and support the functions of establishing a secure connection with certificates.

For the enforced security mode to be used, a public key infrastructure (PKI) should be arranged and configured in the system. PKI implementation can be guaranteed by standard Windows OS features or third-party software. See the section below for general details of how standard OS features are used to arrange and configure PKI.

Secure communication with AD LDS

To provide secure communication with AD LDS services, PKI is configured as follows:

 Request a certificate for the Security Server from the Certification Authority (CA). For the certificate, specify the full domain name of the Security Server computer and the Server Authentication method. Save the received certificate in the computer context storage, in the Personal section.

Note.

If the system doesn't have a CA, a self-signed certificate created on the Security Server can be used to organize secure connections. This certificate is used in the future as both the computer certificate and the CA certificate.

- **2.** Install the received certificate in IIS by launching IIS Manager and depending on the OS version perform the actions below:
 - In the hierarchical list, expand the section of websites, call the "Default Web Site" context menu and select the "Edit Bindings" command.
 - In the website bindings list that appears, call the dialog for configuring the https element and select the received certificate in the list of SSL certificates.
 - After the certificate is installed, use the respective control in the context menu of Default Web Site to restart IIS.
- 3. Grant required permissions to access the certificate key file. To do this, in File Explorer, go to the default directory where the keys are stored. Path to the directory in Windows Server 2012: %ProgramData%\Microsoft\Crypto\RSA\MachineKeys. In other OS versions: %ALLUSERSPROFILE%\Application Data\Microsoft\Crypto\RSA\MachineKeys. In the directory, call the window for configuring the certificate key file properties (the required file can be identified by its creation date and time), go to the Security tab, and add the required account with default permissions to the list. The name of the account to be added depends on the computer the security server is installed on:
 - If SS is installed on a Windows Server 2012 domain controller, the account name includes SecretNetLDS.
 - If SS is installed on a domain controller in another OS, the account name includes SecretNetLDS\$.
 - If SS is installed on any other computer, the account name includes NET-WORK SERVICE.
- 4. Put the server certificate on the Security Server computer in the Personal storage section in the context of SecretNet and SecretNet-GC service instances. To do this, load the Certificates snap-in in the managing computer certificates mode and in the managing certificates mode of each service (i.e., three snapins are load-ed). Export the server certificate together with the private key from the Personal section of the snap-in with computer certificates and then import snap-ins with service certificates to sections ADAM_SecretNet\Personal and ADAM_SecretNet-GC\Personal of snap-ins with service certificates. Then grant permissions to access the files of imported certificate keys (see Step 3).

Note.

On a Windows Server 2008 OS computer, instead of exporting and importing, you can copy the certificate along with the private key in the Certificates snap-in. The certificate is copied from the Personal section of the snap-in with computer certificates to sections ADAM_SecretNet\Personal and ADAM_ SecretNet-GC\Personal of snap-ins with service certificates. After this, you will not have to grant access permissions to certificate key files.

- 5. Put the CA certificate on computers subordinated to the Security Server in the Trusted Root Certification Authorities section of the storage in the computer context. The certificate can be distributed, for example, with the help of group policies. To do this, use the file with this certificate (if the file is missing, you can create it by exporting the certificate from storage). The certificate file is imported in the group policy snapin to the section Security Settings | Open Key Policies | Trusted Root Certification Authorities.
- 6. If there is another Security Server, apply the above steps to that server as well.
- 7. On every Security Server:
 - Start the Security Server certificate control program and synchronize the certificate installed in IIS with the Security Server certificate. To do this, go to the Service tab in the configuration dialog box and click Synchronize.
 - Open the configuration file ServerConfig.xml in the Security Server setup folder. Find the "UseSSLConnection" parameter and change it from false to true. In the "Name" parameter (below) modify the value to the full domain name of the Security Server computer. Save the changes and restart the computer.
- **8.** Enable enforced traffic security on trusted computers. To do this, select the required objects in the Computers panel of the Control Center, go to the "Status" tab, and enable "Encrypt control network traffic". This setting takes effect after the computers are restarted.

Documentation

| 1. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Development principles |
|----|---|
| 2. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Installation and update |
| 3. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Setup and operation |
| 4. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Centralized management, monitoring and audit |
| 5. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Setup and operation. Local protection |
| 6. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Setup and operation. Network protection |
| 7. | Secret Net Studio. Administrator's manual. Setup and operation. Antivirus and intrusion detection tool |
| 8. | Secret Net Studio. User manual |